Town of Walden Zoning Ordinance

Updated through June 2024

Table of Contents

| Article | 1. General Provisions, Rules and Definitions | 1 |
|---------|--|---------|
| 1.01 | General Purpose. | 1 |
| 1.02 | Reference Title of Ordinance. | 1 |
| 1.03 | Uses Restricted | |
| 1.04 | Amplification of Regulations | 1 |
| 1.05 | Private Restrictions. | |
| 1.07 | Specific Definitions | 2 |
| Article | 2. Establishing Zones and Boundaries and Limiting the Uses of Property The | rein 10 |
| 2.01 | Designation of the Town Center Boundary | 10 |
| 2.02 | Divisions into Zones | 10 |
| 2.03 | The Zoning Map | 10 |
| 2.04 | Measurement of Boundaries | |
| 2.05 | Adoption of Zoning Map Boundaries | 10 |
| 2.06 | Compliance with Zone Conditions | 10 |
| Article | 3. General Provisions and Exceptions | 11 |
| 3.01 | Exceptions to the Foregoing Regulations for All Zones. | |
| 3.02 | Lots Used for Residential Purposes. | |
| 3.03 | Required Access for Residential Lots | |
| 3.04 | No Permit for Building on Lots Without Publicly Accepted Access | |
| 3.05 | Parking Requirements for All Zones | |
| 3.06 | Non-Conforming Uses | |
| 3.07 | Distance between buildings | |
| 3.08 | Livestock and Fowl | 13 |
| 3.09 | Home occupation | |
| 3.10 | General Provisions Applicable to the Town Center | 14 |
| Article | 4. Zone Regulations | |
| 4.01 | Agriculture Zone (A-1) | 16 |
| 4.02 | Estate Zone (E-1) | |
| 4.03 | Residential Zone (R-1) | |
| 4.04 | General Commercial Zone (C-1) (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23) | |
| 4.05 | TOWN CENTER MIXED USE (TC-MU) (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23) | |
| 4.06 | Town Center Residential (TC-R) (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23) | |
| 4.07 | Light Manufacturing Zone (LM-1) | |
| 4.08 | Open Space Overlay Zone (OS-1) | 31 |
| Article | 5. Sanitary Wastewater Discharge Requirements | |
| 5.01 | Commercial Development | |
| 5.02 | Residential Development. | |
| Article | 6. Steep Slopes and Escarpment (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23) | 38 |
| Article | 7. Administration and Enforcement | 39 |
| 7.01 | Permits Required | |
| 7.02 | Fees for Permits. | 39 |

| 7.03 | Building Permits and Inspection. | 39 |
|----------------|--|----|
| 7.04 | Enforcement | 39 |
| 7.05 | Penalties for Violation | 39 |
| 7.06 | Remedies for Removing Violations. | 39 |
| Article | 8. Special Permits | 40 |
| 7.01 | Applications for a Special Permit: | 40 |
| 8.02 | Granting Permits | 50 |
| 8.03 | Expiration. | 50 |
| Article 9 | 9. Board of Appeals for Variances | 51 |
| 9.01 | Creation and Membership of a Board of Appeals | 51 |
| 9.02 | Meetings and Rules of the Board of Appeals | 51 |
| 9.03 | Power and Duties of the Board of Appeals. | 51 |
| 9.04 | Method of Appeal to the Board of Appeals. | 52 |
| 9.05 | Application Through Town Recorder | 52 |
| Article : | 10. Interpretation and Amendments | 54 |
| 10.01 | Interpretation. | 54 |
| 10.02 | Initiation of Amendments | 54 |
| 10.03 | Public Hearing on Amendments | 54 |
| 10.04 | Action of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen | 54 |
| 10.05 | Fees for Administrative Costs. | 54 |
| 10.06 | Procedures. | 54 |
| 10.07 | Incorporation of Amendment in the Language of this Ordinance. | 54 |
| Article: | 11. Validity and Severability | 55 |
| 11.01 | Conflicting Ordinances Revoked. | 55 |
| 11.02 | Severability | 55 |
| Article : | 12. Hazardous Waste | 56 |
| 12.01 | Intent | 56 |
| | Definitions | |
| | Identification of Storage Areas. | |
| | Prohibited Uses. | |
| 12.05 | Proximity of Commercial Hazardous Waste or Commercial Medical Waste Management Facilities to Other Uses: | |
| 12.06 | Exceptions. | 63 |
| 12.07 | Zoning Requirements | 68 |
| 12.08 | Building Permit Application Requirements | 68 |
| 12.09 | Severability | 68 |
| Article : | 13. Effective Date | 69 |
| 13.01 | Effective Date | 69 |
| ARTICL | E 14. SIGN REGULATIONS (Ord. No. 2020-334; 11/10/2020) | 70 |
| 14.02 | Definitions | 71 |
| 14.03 | . Interpretation of Districts or Zones | 73 |
| 14.03 | Prohibited Signs | 73 |
| 14.05 | Authorized Signs. | 73 |
| 14.06 | . Permit Required | 76 |

| 14.07 | Appeals and variances7 | 7 |
|---------|--|----|
| 14.08 | Specific Sign Regulations for Residential Districts7 | 7 |
| 14.09 | Specific Sign Regulations for Commercial Districts7 | '8 |
| 14.10 | VC-1 Village Center Zone:8 | 32 |
| 14.11 | Supplemental Criteria in All Districts8 | 2 |
| 14.12 | Illumination8 | 3 |
| 14.13 F | Prohibited Signs8 | 4 |
| 14.13 | Procedures8 | 5 |
| 14.14 | Nonconformity and Modification8 | 6 |
| 14.15 | Compliance8 | 6 |
| | | |

ORDINANCE NO. 2002-230

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING THE EXISTING WALDEN ZONING ORDINANCE, ORDINANCE NO. 7 AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, AND ADOPTING A NEW ORDINANCE FOR THE PURPOSE OF ESTABLISHING ZONES WITHIN THE INCORPORATED TERRITORY OF THE TOWN OF WALDEN, REGULATING THE USE OF PROPERTY THEREIN, ADOPTING SECTIONAL MAPS OF SAID ZONES, REQUIRING PERMITS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION AND USE OF BUILDING AND PREMISES WITHIN SAID ZONES, ESTABLISHING PERMIT PROCEDURES, ESTABLISHING A BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS AND FIXING POWERS AND DUTIES THEREOF, AND PROVIDING FOR THE ADMINISTRATION, ENFORCEMENT, AMENDEMENT, AND PENALTIES FOR VIOLATION OF THIS ORDINANCE.

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, by the provisions of Sections 13-7-201, et. seq., Tennessee Code Annotated, the Town of Walden is authorized to establish districts or zones within its corporate limits for the purpose of regulating the use of land and buildings, the height of buildings, the size of open space surrounding buildings, and the density of population; and

WHEREAS, the Resources Utilization Board Of Chattanooga and Hamilton County, Tennessee, a Regional Planning Commission for Hamilton County, Tennessee, was appointed by the State Planning Commission of the State of Tennessee on May 3, 1943, in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 43 of the Public Acts of 1935; and

WHEREAS, said Regional Planning Commission has adopted, certified, and recommended to the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Walden, for the adoption of a zoning plan consisting of the map and regulations described herein for the purpose described in the title of this Ordinance, as a part of the Town of Walden Plan; and.

WHEREAS, the original Walden Zoning Ordinance, Ordinance No. 7, adopted by the Town of Walden on May 22, 1976, was the Hamilton County Zoning Regulations, which has been amended at various times by the Town of Walden; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Walden has been authorized to establish zones and zoning regulations within the Town of Walden and desire to repeal the existing Walden Ordinance and adopt a new Walden Zoning Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, said Regional Planning Commission and the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Walden find that the adoption of the within zoning map and regulations by the Town of Walden would serve to secure the public health, safety, morals, convenience, order, prosperity, and general welfare of the residents of the Town of Walden; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Walden has given due public notice of the public hearing relating to zoning districts, regulations, and restrictions, and has held such public hearing; and

WHEREAS, all requirements of State Law, with regards to the preparation of the zoning plan of the Planning Commission and subsequent actions of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen have been met;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF WALDEN, TENNESSEE, AS FOLLOWS:

Ordinance No. 2023-354

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING THE EXISTING TOWN OF WALDEN ZONING ORDINANCE, ORDINANCE NO. 2002-230 AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME AND ADOPTING A NEW ZONING ORDINANCE FOR LAND USE AND ZONING REGULATIONS FOR THE TOWN OF WALDEN, TENNESSEE

WHEREAS, when the Town of Walden was chartered by the State of Tennessee, powers were enumerated in the charter to regulate land use, enact structural regulations, and promote development guidelines; and

WHEREAS the Town of Walden recognizes the need for long-range planning and the promotion of coordinated and orderly development to promote the public welfare; and

WHEREAS the town has established a municipal planning commission pursuant to TCA 13-4-101, with all the powers accorded to such a commission as set forth in TCA Title 13; and

WHEREAS TCA 13-7-201 et seq. enables municipalities to adopt a municipal zoning ordinance; and

WHEREAS with the establishment of the Walden Municipal Planning Commission in Ordinance No. 2022-350, the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission is no longer designated as the Town's planning commission; and

WHEREAS Ordinance 2002-230, the Walden Zoning Ordinance as amended from time to time, was reviewed and recommended by the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission and not by the Walden Municipal Planning Commission; and

WHEREAS TCA 13-7-203 requires review of the Walden Zoning Ordinance and included zoning map by the Town's planning commission, which is now the newly formed Walden Municipal Planning Commission; and

WHEREAS, at its regularly scheduled meeting on January 26, 2023, the planning commission recommended the Zoning Ordinance for the Town of Walden, Tennessee, and the accompanying zoning map, to the Walden Board of Mayor and Aldermen for adoption;

BE IT ORDAINED by the Town of Walden as follows:

- Section 1. The document titled "Town of Walden Zoning Ordinance" as prepared by the Municipal Planning Commission and recommended by the same on January 26, 2023 along with the zoning map contained therein, is hereby adopted as the official Zoning Ordinance for the Town of Walden.
- Section 2. The appropriate dates and signatures shall be inscribed in the zoning document concurrent with the passage of this ordinance.

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that this ordinance shall become effective after the final reading, and publication as required by law, the public welfare requiring it.

Article 1. General Provisions, Rules and Definitions

1.01 General Purpose. For the public health, safety, morals, convenience, order, prosperity, and general welfare of the citizens of the Town of Walden, and in order to secure the public interest in the orderly development of the Town of Walden by promoting sustainable, long-term economic development, adequate light and air, improved traffic safety, reduced traffic congestion, environmental protection; as well as adequate water drainage, water supply, sanitation and recreational facilities through the regulation by districts and zones of the location, height, bulk, number of stories and size of buildings and other structures, the uses of buildings, structures and land for trade, industry, residences, recreation, public activities and other purposes, and in connection therewith, there is hereby adopted and established an official Development and Zoning Plan for the Town of Walden consisting of the maps and regulations described herein. In adopting this Ordinance, the Town of Walden recognizes that its natural landscapes and development patterns play an important role in defining the attractiveness, identity, livability, and therefore, the economic health of the community. Currently, the Town enjoys a rural mountain character supported by scenic overlooks, creek gorges, woodlands, and pasturelands. The character of development is predominantly residential and small in scale.

This ordinance is also designed to enhance and implement the vision established in the Town of Walden Plan (March 2022), as amended. (Ord. 2024-364, 6/11/24)

This ordinance is not intended to deny property owners the reasonable, practical, or economical use of their land, but to promote development that contributes to Walden's scenic assets. Therefore, in order to provide for continued prosperity, health, and identity of the community in the future, the Town of Walden sets forth the following purposes for the ordinance:

- To maintain rural character and small scale of development;
- To protect important natural resources (creek gorges, overlooks, woodlands, steep slopes, wetlands);
- To protect and enhance property values;
- To provide a variety of living arrangements;
- To encourage harmonious and integrated development patterns that are economically feasible and are in harmony with the community with the following development priorities:
 - Outdoor gathering places;
 - Compatible Businesses; (Ord. 2024-364, 6/11/24)
 - Pedestrian facilities;
 - Mixed uses:
 - Landscaping;
- To discourage commercial strip development; and
- To promote high quality development that is needed and that takes into account the effect on adjacent property as well as the public health, safety, morals and general welfare of the citizens of Walden and promotes materials and design consistent with the maintenance of Walden's character as a rural and residential community. (Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)
- **1.02 Reference Title of Ordinance.** This Ordinance, as the same may from time to time be hereafter amended, shall be known as the "Walden Zoning Ordinance," and may be cited as such.
- **1.03** Uses Restricted. Use of land, buildings, and structures not clearly permitted in the various zoning districts are prohibited.
- **1.04 Amplification of Regulations.** No premises shall be used and no buildings or structure shall be erected, reconstructed, structurally altered, enlarged, rebuilt, moved, or used for any purpose except in conformity with all regulations herein prescribed or which shall hereafter be adopted for the zone in which such premises, building, or structure is located.
- **1.05 Private Restrictions.** The regulations contained herein are minimum requirements and do not affect any easements, covenants, deed restrictions, or other agreements, which impose a

greater restriction than is imposed by these regulations. Where these regulations impose a greater restriction than imposed by other rules, regulations, and licenses or by easements, covenants, deed restrictions, or other private agreements, these regulations shall control.

- **1.06 Construction of Language.** For the purpose of these regulations, the following terms, phrases, and words shall have the specific definitions as listed in 1.07. When not inconsistent with the context words used in the present tense include the future, and singular include the plural; the word "shall" is mandatory; the word "may" is permissive; the word "person" includes an individual, a corporation, a partnership (general or limited), a limited liability company, and incorporated association, or any other similar entity; the words "used for" or "use" include "arranged for," "designed for," "intended for," maintained for," or "occupied for," and the words "zone," "zoning district," and "district" shall mean the same thing. In case of any difference of meaning of implication between the text of these controls and any caption illustration, summary, table of illustration, the text shall control. The words "this ordinance," "these regulations," "the regulations," "said regulations," "the zoning regulations," and "said zoning regulations," shall be deemed to refer to the Walden Zoning Ordinance herein contained as the same shall from time to time be modified and amended.
- 1.07 Specific Definitions. The following terms shall have the meanings listed below:
 - Accessory building. A building which is incidental and subordinate to that of the principal building and located on the same lot therewith.
 - Accessory use. A use which is incidental and subordinate to that of the main building or use of the land.
 - Agriculture. The cultivation of soil, and the raising and harvesting of crops, including but not limited to, nursery, gardening, horticulture, forestry, and the raising and/or caring for livestock other than poultry and pigs.
 - Alterations. Any change or rearrangement in the supporting members of an existing building, such as bearing walls, columns, beams, girders, or interior partitions, as well as any changes in doors, windows, means of ingress and egress, or any enlargement to or diminution of a building or structure, whether horizontally or vertically, or the moving of a building or structure from one location to another.
 - Any activity, occupation, business, or operation carried on, in a building or other structure or on a tract or land;
 - Any purpose for which a building or other structure, or a tract of land may be designed, arranged, intended, maintained, or occupied; or
 - Architect. One who is registered pursuant to T.C.A. Sec. 62-2-101 to practice architecture in the State of Tennessee.
 - Assisted Living Facility. Any building, establishment, complex which accepts persons for domiciliary care and provides room, board, and non-medical living assistance to the residents. Where prescribed medical treatment may be administered subject to the provisions of T.C.A. Sec. 68-11-201.
 - Attached. Connected by or having in common any portion of one or more walls, floors, ceilings, or roofs.
 - Attic. The space between the ceiling beams of the top habitable story and the roof rafter.
 - Basement. That portion of a building having its floor subgrade below ground level on three or more sides.
 - Bed and Breakfast. An owner-occupied Dwelling Unit advertised or held out to the public to be a place where living and/or sleeping accommodations usually including provision of at least one meal per day are supplied to transient guests for compensation. In order for a Dwelling Unit to be considered as "owner-occupied," the unit must be the owner's primary residence and must be continually occupied by the owner at the time of the bed and breakfast use. (Ord. 2009-280, 5/12/2009)
 - Blue line streams on USGS topographic maps;
 - Broadcast Facility. A complete assemblage of equipment for commercial radio

television, or cellular or satellite transmission not including a transmitter tower.

- Building Code. Southern Standard Building Code.
- Building Height. The vertical distance measured from the average finished grade elevation across the front of the building to the highest point of the roof.
- Building Inspector. The Hamilton County, Tennessee, Building and Inspection Office or any person designated by the Hamilton County Building and Inspection Office or the Town of Walden.
- Building. Any structure which:
- Cemetery. Land used for the burial of the dead or, if cremated, the cremains, and dedicated for cemetery or memorial purposes, including columbariums and mausoleums when operated in conjunction with and within the boundary of such cemetery.
- Conservation Easement. A nonpossessory interest of a holder in real property imposing limitations or affirmative obligations the purposes of which include retaining or protecting natural, scenic, or open-space values of real property, assuring its availability for agricultural, forest, recreational, or open-space use, protecting natural resources, maintaining or enhancing air or water quality, or preserving the historical, architectural, archaeological, or cultural aspects of real property.
- Constructed wetland. A treatment system that uses natural processes involving wetland vegetation, soils, and their associated microbial assemblages to improve water quality. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- Convenience Store. A store that provides a range of food and miscellaneous products for sale which may include the sale of gasoline.
- **Cul-de-sac.** A local street with one end open to traffic and the other end terminating in a vehicular turn-around.
- Day Care Center. A facility operated by any person (other than educational or recreational facility operated by the Town of Walden, Hamilton County, or the State of Tennessee) or a church that receives compensation for the care of eight (8) or more children under seventeen (17) years of age for less than twenty-four (24) hours per day, without transfer of custody whether denominated as a child development center, nursery school, day nursery, or play school. Also, a place operated by a person, society, agency, corporation, or institution, or any group where pay is received for the care of eight (8) or more aged persons for group care for less than twenty-four (24) hours per day. This definition is not applicable to any such use operated by any governmental unit.
- Day Care Home. A home operated by any person who receives therein for pay not more than seven (7) children under seventeen (17) years of age, who are not related to such person and whose parents or guardians are not residents of the same home for less than twenty-four (24) hours supervision and care, without transfer of custody. Also, a home operated by any person who receives therein for pay not more than seven (7) aged persons, who are not related to such person, for less than twenty-four (24) hours supervision and care.
- Designated Open Space. Open space that is designated within an Open Space Overlay Zone subdivision to be placed under a Conservation Easement permanently restricting future development.
- Development. Any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including but not limited to, buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavating or drilling operations.
- Dwelling Unit. Any room or group of rooms locating within a dwelling and forming
 a single habitable unit with facilities which are used or intended to be used for
 living, cooking, sleeping and eating.

- Dwelling, Single-family. A separate detached Building containing one or more persons occupying the premises and living as a single house-keeping unit but not transient guests occupying a bed and breakfast or short-term vacation rental (both as defined herein) and specifically excluding factory manufactured homes constructed as a single, self-contained unit and mounted on a single chassis. (Ord. 2009-280, 5/12/09)
- **Engineer.** One who is registered pursuant to T.C.A. Sec. 62-2-101 to practice engineering in the State of Tennessee.
- **Façade**, **primary**. The facade of a building fronting a street or formal open space. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- Façade, secondary. The side facade of a building. Side facades that face a street or formal open space shall be considered a primary façade. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- Family. A group of one (1) or two (2) persons or parents with their direct descendants and adopted children (and including the domestic employees thereof), together with not more than three (3) persons not so related, living together in a room or rooms comprising a single housekeeping unit. Every additional group of five (5) or less persons living in such housekeeping unit shall be considered a separate family for the purpose of this Ordinance.
- Flood. The temporary overflowing of water onto land that is usually devoid of surface water.
- Flowing park. A linear tract of land that serves as a collection point for stormwater but can also be used as a park as long as there are no structures in the park that would impede water flow. Flowing parks should be designed with the natural topography to preserve natural drainage patterns. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
 - Flowing water not directly related to a storm event
- Fowl. Chickens, ducks, guineas, turkeys, etc.
- French drain. A shallow, sub-surface drainage system consisting of a pipe within a trench filled with loose stones. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- Frontage. The width of the lot measured at (1) the required front yard setback line, or (2) in the case of a Flag Lot, the narrowest part not included in the flag pole.
- Gasoline Service Station. Any area of land, including structures thereon, or any building or part thereof, that is used for the sale or gasoline or other motor vehicle fuel, and which may or may not include the sale of accessories or facilities for lubricating, washing, or otherwise servicing motor vehicles, but which shall not include painting, body and fender repairs, or the storage of inoperable or wrecked vehicles.
- Green finger. An extension of a naturally occurring landscape, such as creek bed or tree line, into an urbanized area. A green finger may include a combination of natural vegetation and surface landscape. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- **Green roof**. Building rooftops planted with 6 to 12 inches of soil to support a variety of plants that reduce the sheet flow of rainwater at ground level.
- Hammerhead. An "L" or "T" type of cul-de-sac to accommodate turning of passenger vehicles, delivery trucks, school buses and emergency vehicles.
 - · Has one or more floors and a roof; and
- Home Occupation. An occupation conducted in a dwelling unit or accessory building such as offices and studios.
- Homeowners Association. A formally constituted non-profit association or corporation made up of the property owners and/or residents of a development.
- Hotel/Motel. A building in which lodging is provided with or without meals and

- offered to members of the public as transient guests for compensation, and is not a Bed and Breakfast or Short-term Vacation Rental. (Ord. 2009-280. 5/12/09)
- Inn. A building which is not less than two (2) nor more than two and one-half (2 ½) stories in height, having ten (10) or less guest rooms in which lodging is offered to transient guests for stays of thirty (30) days or less. An Inn building may include a restaurant, outdoor service area for the service of guests and/or members of the public, and up to two (2) dwelling units for employees of the Inn or any restaurant located therein.
 - Is bounded by either open area or the lot lines and intended for the shelter, housing, or enclosure of persons, animals, or materials.
 - Is permanently affixed to the land;
- Liquor sales (sale of Liquor). Means the retail sale of Liquor to patrons or customers, in sealed packages, and not for consumption on the premises. (Ord. 2004-241 1/11/05)
- Liquor. Means alcoholic beverages that contain more than five percent (5%) alcoholic by weight and as otherwise defined in Section 57-3-101 of the Tennessee Code Annotated. (Ord. 2004-241 1/11/05)
- Livestock, Large. Livestock 250 pounds and over.
- Livestock, Small. Livestock under 250 pounds.
- Lot Area. The total horizontal area of the lot lying within the lot lines, provided that no area of land lying within any street lines shall be deemed a portion of any lot area.
- Lot Depth. The depth of a lot for the purpose of this Ordinance, is the distance measured in the mean direction of the side lines of the lot from the midpoint of the front line to the midpoint of the opposite main rear line of the lot.
- Lot Line, Front. The front lot line of an interior lot is the line separating the lot from the street or easement of principal access. The front lot line of a corner lot shall be the lot line of least length abutting the street or streets, except that any street lot line may be elected to be the front lot line for the purpose of this Ordinance, provided it is so designated on the application for a building permit.
- Lot Line, Rear. The rear lot line is the boundary opposite and more or less parallel to the front lot line. The rear lot line of an irregular or triangular lot shall be for the purpose of this Ordinance a line not less than ten (10) feet long, lying wholly within the lot, and parallel to a farthest distance from the front lot line.
- Lot Line, Side. A side lot line is any boundary line not a front lot line or a rear lot line. A side lot line separating a lot from a street line is an exterior side lot line. Any other side lot line is an interior side lot line.
- Lot Line. The outside dimension of a lot as defined in these regulations, except that in the case of any lot abutting a street, the lot line for such a portion of the lot as abuts such streets shall be deemed to be the same as the street line, and shall not be the centerline of the street, or any other line within the street line even though such may be the property boundary line.
- Lot of Record. A parcel of land with dimensions shown on a document or plat file with the Hamilton County Register of Deeds prior to May 22, 1976 and which actually exists as so shown.
- Lot Width. The distance between the side lot lines measured in a straight line at right angles to the mean direction of such side lines and at the front yard depth required by this ordinance.
- Lot, Corner. A corner lot is a lot abutting on two (2) or more streets at their intersection, or upon a curved street provided that the two (2) sides of the lot, or the tangents to the curve of the street line as its starting points at or within the side lines of the lot, intersect to form an interior angle of not more than 135 degrees.

- Lot, Flag. An interior lot located to the rear of another lot but with a narrow portion
 of the lot extending to the street. The narrow portion of the lot that extends to the
 street
- Lot. A parcel of land occupied or intended to be occupied by a principal building or building group as permitted in this Ordinance, together with its accessory buildings or uses and such access, yards and other open spaces as required in this Ordinance.
- Manufactured Homes. A structure, transportable in one (1) or more sections, which, in the traveling mode, is eight (8) body feet or more in width, or forty (40) body feet or more in length, or, when erected on site, is three hundred twenty (320) or more square feet, and which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling with a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities, and includes the plumbing, heating, air condition, and electrical systems contained therein. For flood plain management purposes the term "manufactured home" also includes park trailers, travel trailers, and other similar vehicles placed on a site for greater than 180 consecutive days. For building permit purposes there shall be affixed to a factory manufactured home the appropriate State of Tennessee certification label before same shall be considered to meet standards required for issuance of a building permit. The requirement for a permanent foundation and an affixed porch shall not be enforced for manufactured homes permitted by a Temporary Permit issued by the Board of Appeals.
- Mixed housing types. Any combination or required mix of townhouses (also called rowhouses and attached homes), two-family dwellings, single-family zero lot-line dwellings (also called patio homes), single-family attached or detached dwellings surrounding a small court, and/or other moderate density multi-family dwellings in a manner which provides for efficient use of land, housing choice, and is compatible with surrounding development. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- Municipal Buildings. Any building or structure constructed, operated, or leased by the Town of Walden for the purposes of providing public services, including, but not limited to, administrative services, police or fire protection, recreation and/or educational facilities. (Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)
- New Construction. Structures for which the "Start of Construction" commenced on or after the effective date of this Ordinance.
- Nonconforming Building or Use. A nonconforming building or use is one that does not conform with the zoning ordinance applicable to the zone in which the same is located.
- Office. A room or group of rooms used for conducting the affairs of a business, profession, or government.
- Open Air Market. A structure where vegetables, fruits, flowers, plants, and shrubs are sold to the public.
- Parking Space. A space available for the parking of one (1) motor vehicle, not less than nine (9) feet wide, twenty (20) feet in length, exclusive of access or maneuvering space. Handicapped parking as required by T.C.A. shall meet the current ADA standards.
- Paver blocks. Solid blocks made of a variety of materials that individually set with space between them. When joints are filled with sand or pea gravel, the blocks allow some filtration reducing stormwater sheet flow. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- Pervious asphalt/concrete. A porous paved surface that reduces stormwater runoff by filtrating water through the paving material. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- Planting strip trench. A gently sloped vegetated area within a street right-of-way that channels and filtrates stormwater runoff. A planting strip trench is typically grassed but may also include native grasses and street trees. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)

- Premises. A parcel or plot of land, whether occupied or unoccupied by buildings and/or structures.
- Private Road. A private right of way, serving as a means of vehicular and pedestrian travel, which has not been dedicated to or accepted by the Town of Walden.
- Rain garden. A depressed planted area in the landscape that collects rainwater from a roof or driveway and filtrates it into the ground. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- Retention hollow. A series of small, interconnected depressions with a natural aesthetic that collect stormwater and slowly release measured amounts through the system. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
 - same meaning as that given by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in 33 C.F.R. 328 Definition of Waters of the Unites States.
- **School.** Any building or structure to be used principally for providing education to students grades K-12 (or any segment thereof) whether public or private but excluding day care facilities.
- **Screen.** An evergreen hedge or sight-obscuring fence with a height of not less than five (5) feet above ground level.
- **Setback.** The shorter distance between any part of a building or structure and the nearest lot line or right-of-way.
 - shall be suitable for ingress and egress, and shall not be included in the calculation of minimum lot area. No part of the narrow portion of the lot shall be less than twenty-five (25) feet in width, except in cases when an existing structure(s) and its required side yard cannot be accommodated, then the width shall not be less than fifteen (15) feet in width. The narrow (flag pole) portion of the lot shall not be considered in determining required yard setbacks. The front yard requirements (setbacks) shall apply to all yards of a flag lot. (Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)
- Short-term Vacation Rental. A Dwelling Unit that is rented in part or in its entirety to transient guests for living or sleeping accommodations, whether on a daily or weekly basis. Unlike a Bed and Breakfast, a short-term vacation rental is not "owner-occupied." (Ord. 2009-280, 5/12/2009)
- **Sign.** Any medium for visual communication, including its supportive structure and source of light, which is used or intended to be used to attract attention to a location or subject matter for advertising, instruction or informational purposes and is viewable from a public or private right-or-way.
- Single-family dwellings, zero lot-line (syn. patio homes). A detached residential building with one dwelling unit and one wall placed on the property boundary line. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- **Stable.** Any structure, either private or public, where horses are kept which is intended to protect a horse from the elements.
- Start of Construction. Either the first placement of permanent construction of a structure on a site, such as the pouring of slab or footings, the installation of piles, the construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation; or the placement of a manufactured home on a foundation. Permanent construction does not include land preparation, such as clearing, grading and filling; nor does it include the installation of streets and/or walkways; nor does it include excavation for a basement, footings, piers, or foundations or the erection of temporary forms; nor does it include the installation on the property of accessory buildings, such as garages or sheds not occupied as dwelling units or not part of the main structure.
- Story. A "story" is that part of a building between any floor and the floor or ceiling next above.
- Stream (Stream Channel). Part of a watercourse either naturally or artificially created which contains an intermittent or perennial base flow of groundwater

- origin. Base flows of groundwater origin can be distinguished by any of the following physical indicators:
- Street Line. The street line is the dividing line between a street right-of-way and the adjacent lot. (Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)
- Street, Unopened. Any street or roadway which is platted of record and dedicated for public use and upon which no street or roadway has been constructed.
- Street. A public right-of-way, serving as a means of vehicular and pedestrian travel which has been dedicated to and accepted by the Town of Walden.
- Structural Alterations. Any change in or addition to the supporting or structural members of a building or other structure, such as the bearing walls, partitions, columns, beams or girders, or any change which could convert an existing building or other structure into a different structure or adapt it to a different use, or which in the case of a nonconforming building or other structure would prolong the life of such building or other structure.
- **Structure.** Any form or arrangement of building materials requiring proper support, bracing, tying, anchoring, or other protection against the forces of the elements. For the purpose of these regulations, a swimming pool, a tennis court, an antenna, a tower or similar appurtenances shall be considered a structure.
- Studio. The workshop of an artist, sculptor, photographer, or craftsperson.
- Townhouse. A single-family dwelling unit attached by fireproof common walls to other similar type units, each unit having an open space for light, air, and access in the front and rear. Each unit shall have a separate entrance. There shall be not less than four (4) or more than twelve (12) units connected together. Each unit is to be placed on a single and separate lot.
- Trailer. Any vehicle either having or not having motor power of its own, which has been or may be propelled, carried or drawn, whether resting on wheels, jacks or other foundation and which is, or is not, arranged, intended, designed, or used for human habitation, for recreational purposes, or as a place in which a person or persons may eat, sleep, or congregate. A trailer shall include that type of vehicle known as a motor home, boat trailer, utility trailer, camping trailer, or recreational vehicle.
- **Transient.** Any person who, occupies or is entitled to occupy any rooms, lodging or other accommodations for a period of thirty (30) days or less. (Ord. 2009-280, 5/12/09)
- Truck Garden. A garden in which vegetables are grown for sale off-premise.
- **Two-family dwellings**. A residential building with two dwelling units separated vertically or horizontally with fire-rated construction per applicable building codes. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- Use.
- **Utilities.** The term utilities shall mean, as applicable in any context, water, gas, electric, telephone, cable television, and any other similar utility service which is to be provided to the user thereof through the use of a pipe, wire, and/or cable.
- Variance. A grant of relief to a person from the requirements of this Ordinance which permits construction or use in a manner otherwise prohibited by these regulations where specific enforcement would result in unnecessary hardship.
- Vegetative/stone swale. A slight depression with a three-to-six inch base of small stones and planted with grasses to channel stormwater to retention areas while allowing it to filtrate stormwater into the ground as it is channeled. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- Warehouse (mini or self-storage). A building or group of buildings in a controlled access and fenced compound that contains various sizes of individual, compartmentalized, and controlled-access stalls or lockers for the storage of

- customer's goods or wares.
- Watercourse. Any streams, brooks, lakes, ponds, swamps, marshes, bogs, and all other bodies of water, natural or artificial, vernal or intermittent, public or private, which are contained within, flow through or border upon the Town of Walden.
- Wetland. An area that is periodically inundated or saturated by surface or ground water at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and under normal conditions does support a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturate soil conditions. It is intended, as used in this Ordinance, the term wetland shall have the
- Yard, Front. A yard extending the full width of the lot along the front line and extending in-depth from the front line to the nearest point of any structure on the lot, the minimum distance being specified by this Ordinance.
- Yard, Rear. An open space extending the full width of the lot and of a uniform depth measured horizontally at right angles to the rear lot line.
- Yard, Side. An open space extending along the side of the lot, between the front yard and the rear yard and of a uniform width measured horizontally at right angles to the side lot line. Bio-retention swale. A shallow, vegetated, landscaped depression typically along roadways and other impervious areas and designed to capture, treat, and filtrate stormwater runoff. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)
- Yard. An open space, not occupied by a vertical structure or structures, on the same lot with a building or other structure or use, open and unobstructed from the ground to the sky except by vegetation.

Article 2. Establishing Zones and Boundaries and Limiting the Uses of Property Therein

2.01 Designation of the Town Center Boundary. The Town Center is designated on the Zoning Map in accordance with the Town of Walden Plan, the adopted General Plan for the Town of Walden. Within this Plan, the Town Center is identified as the Taft Highway Focus area.

All existing zoning within the Town Center as_ of the date of the adoption of this amendment to the Walden Zoning Ordinance shall remain in effect until application is made to rezone the property. All future zoning decisions shall be in compliance with the Town of Walden Plan, and only zones designated to be in compliance with this Plan shall be approved by the Town of Walden Board of Mayor and Aldermen in accordance with Article 10 of this Ordinance following a report by the Planning Commission. The specific zones that shall be permitted are designated under "Divisions into Zones - Zones applicable within the Town Center" below. (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)

- **2.02 Divisions into Zones.** In order to regulate, restrict, and segregate the use of land, buildings, and structures, and to regulate and restrict the height and bulk of buildings and the area of yards and other open spaces about buildings and to regulate and restrict the density of population, the incorporated territory of the Town of Walden, Tennessee is hereby divided into zones known as:
 - (a) Zones applicable outside the Town Center:

| A-1 | Agriculture Zone |
|------|--------------------------|
| E-1 | Estate Zone |
| R-1 | Residential Zone |
| C-1 | Commercial Zone |
| VC-1 | Village Center Zone |
| LM-1 | Light Manufacturing Zone |
| OS-1 | Open Space Overlay Zone |

(b) Zones applicable within the Town Center Boundary:

TC-MU Town Center Mixed Use TC-R Town Center Residential (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)

- **2.03 The Zoning Map.** The boundaries of said zones are hereby fixed and established as shown upon the map accompanying this ordinance and made a part thereof, and entitled "Zoning Map of the Town of Walden, Tennessee". The Zoning Map and all the notations, references, and other information shown thereon are a part of this Ordinance, and as much a part as if such information set forth on the map were all fully described and set out herein. This Zoning Map, properly attested, is on file in the office of the Town Administrator or their designee. (Ord. 2024-364, 6/11/24)
- **2.04 Measurement of Boundaries.** The boundaries of the various zones as shown on the said map shall be determined by the use of the scale shown on said map, unless the actual dimensions are noted. Scale and filed measurements and map dimensions shall be figured from the centerline of streets and alleys. Where zoning boundaries lie on or within streets, roads, and alleys, the zoning boundaries shall be the centerlines of streets, alleys, railroad right-of-way, or such lines extended.
- **2.05** Adoption of Zoning Map Boundaries. The boundaries of such zones as shown on said map are hereby adopted and approved, and the regulations of this Ordinance are hereby established and declared to be in effect upon all land (including water area) included within the boundaries of each and every zone shown upon said map.
- **2.06 Compliance with Zone Conditions.** Except as hereinafter provided, no building shall be erected or altered, nor shall any building or premises be used for any purpose other than is permitted in the zone in which such buildings or premises is located, nor shall any building be erected or structurally altered except in conformity with the height, area, and regulations herein established for the zone in which such building is located.

Article 3. General Provisions and Exceptions

3.01 Exceptions to the Foregoing Regulations for All Zones.

- (a) **Height Exceptions.** Subject to other restrictions set forth herein, communication towers, steeples, water tanks, silos, and similar structures, and necessary mechanical appurtenances to such structures may be built and used as established for the zone in which such structures are located.
- (b) **Side Yards on Corner Lots.** On corner lots, fences and walls no more than six (6) feet high may be erected; but no fence, wall, or shrubbery shall be maintained within twenty- five (25) feet of any street intersection.
- (c) **Lot of Record.** Any lot of record, meeting the requirements set forth herein, with accepted access as defined in 3.04, may be used as a building site for a single-family dwelling.
- (d) **Subdivision of Lots.** No lot shall be reduced in size or area below the minimum requirements set forth herein. Any subdivision (i.e. any change to the size of a lot whether by (i) modifying the boundary line of the lot, or (ii) deleting interior lot lines shall be considered a subdivision) of a lot with dimensions shown on a document or plat filed with the Hamilton County Register of Deeds prior to March 14, 1995 shall meet at least the minimum requirements established by this Ordinance, except that lot(s) may be created that do not meet the minimum size requirements established by this Ordinance when they are the result of the resubdivision of lot(s) of record and the newly created lot(s) are as large or larger than the previous lot(s). (Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)
- **3.02** Lots Used for Residential Purposes. Any lot used for residential purposes shall be restricted to one (1) principal structure and its accessory structure(s).
- **3.03** Required Access for Residential Lots. All residential lots in the Town of Walden must have frontage on an existing town accepted and publicly maintained street or road. Lots whose only access is a private road or easement are not permitted unless a Special Permit is granted by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.
- 3.04 No Permit for Building on Lots Without Publicly Accepted Access. No permit shall be issued for a building or use on a lot which does not abut on an existing town accepted and publicly maintained street or road unless a Special Permit for access to such lot by a private road or easement has been granted by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.
- **3.05 Parking Requirements for All Zones.** It is the intent of this Ordinance to minimize, to the extent practical, the size of parking areas so as to reduce storm water run-off and eliminate the usual blight associated with large parking lots. Off-street parking with proper drainage shall be provided on the same lot as the structure it serves according to the following criteria:
 - (a) There shall be two (2) spaces for every dwelling unit.
 - (b) There shall be one (1) space for every three (3) seats in the main auditorium of churches and other public meeting structures;
 - (c) For Bed and Breakfasts and Inns there shall be one (1) parking space for every guest unit plus one (1) parking space for every innkeeper's dwelling;
 - (d) For any other permitted use, there shall be four (4) parking spaces for every 1000 square feet of net leasable floor area or such lesser number of spaces as shall provide reasonable parking for the use of the building per approval of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

3.06 Non-Conforming Uses.

(a) The lawful use of a building existing at the time of the passage of the Walden Zoning

Ordinance or any amendment thereto shall not be affected by the Ordinance, although such use does not conform to the provisions of the Ordinance and such use may be extended throughout any such building, provided that no structural alterations, except those required by law or other town ordinance, or ordered by an authorized officer to secure the safety of the building, are made therein, but no such use shall be extended to occupy any land outside such buildings.

If such non-conforming building is removed or the non-conforming use of such building is discontinued for 100 consecutive days regardless of the intent of the owner or occupant of such building to continue or discontinue such use, every future use of such premises shall be in conformity with the provisions of the Ordinance. Evidence of nonuse shall include, but not be limited to, the disconnection of electrical service to said building for a period of 100 days or longer. (Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)

Manufactured homes, existing on lots where manufactured homes are not a permitted use, shall be treated as non-conforming uses as specified in this section.

Nothing in this section shall prevent the replacement in the same location of a manufactured home that is a legal non-conforming use in a residential zone with another manufactured home, provided that a new building permit shall be issued for such manufactured home, specifying that the manufactured home meets all of the current regulations concerning plumbing, electrical and other codes applicable to such units.

- (b) The lawful use of land existing at the time of the passage of this Ordinance, although such use does not conform to the provisions of this Ordinance, shall not be affected by the Ordinance, provided, however, that no such non-conforming use be extended to occupy a greater area of land than that occupied by such use at the time of the passage of this Ordinance.
 - If such non-conforming use is discontinued for a period of not less than 100 consecutive days regardless of the intent of the owner or occupant of such premises to continue or discontinue such non-conforming use, any future use of such land shall be in conformity with the provisions of this Ordinance.
- (c) A non-conforming use may be changed to a use of the same classification according to the provisions of this Ordinance. When a zone shall hereafter be changed, any then existing non-conforming use in such changed zone may be continued or changed to a use of a similar classification; provided all other regulations governing the new use are complied with. Whenever a non-conforming use of a building has been discontinued or changed to a conforming use, such use shall not hereafter be changed to a nonconforming use.
- (d) Nothing in this Ordinance shall be taken to prevent the restoration within <u>one (1) year</u> of a building destroyed to any extent by fire, explosion or other casualty, nor the continued occupancy of such building. In the event that additional time is necessary to complete restoration of a building destroyed by fire, explosion, or other casualty, an applicant may apply to the Board of Mayor and Aldermen for an extension of time within which to reconstruct a building or structure. The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may approve any necessary extension of time by resolution lawfully passed.
- (e) In addition, a lot that had a single use consisting of a legal non-conforming manufactured home in a residential zone, that was destroyed by any of the above may, prior to the expiration of 100 consecutive days, have another manufactured home placed on the lot, provided that a new building permit shall be issued for the new

manufactured home, specifying that the manufactured home meets all the current regulations concerning building, plumbing, electrical and other codes applicable to said unit.

(f) Any non-conforming industrial, commercial, or other business establishment in operation shall be allowed to expand operations and construct additional facilities which involve an actual continuance and expansion of the activities of the industry or business provided that there is a reasonable amount of space for such expansion on the property owned by such industry or business and so as to avoid nuisances to adjoining landowners.

No building permit or like permission for construction or landscaping shall be denied to an industry or business seeking to expand and continue activities conducted by that industry or business provided that there is a reasonable amount of space for such expansion on the property owned by such industry or business so as to avoid nuisances to adjoining landowners.

Industrial, commercial, or other business establishments in operation and permitted to operate as non-conforming uses shall be allowed to destroy present facilities and reconstruct new facilities necessary to the conduct of such industry or business provided that no destruction and rebuilding shall occur which shall act to change the use classification of the land as classified under any zoning regulations or exceptions thereto in effect.

No building permit or like permission for demolition, construction or landscaping shall be denied to an industry or business seeking to destroy and reconstruct facilities necessary to the continued conduct of the activities of that industry or business provided that there is a reasonable amount of space for such expansion on the property owned by such industry or business so as to avoid nuisances to adjoining landowners.

- **3.07 Distance between buildings.** Where more than one (1) permanent building is located on one (1) parcel, the buildings shall be at least twenty (20) feet apart.
- Livestock and Fowl. It shall be unlawful for any person to own, keep or maintain more than one (1) large livestock per acre or more than two (2) small livestock per acre.It shall be unlawful for any person to own, keep or maintain more than 100 livestock or fowl in the Town of Walden.
- **3.09 Home occupation.** An occupation conducted in a dwelling unit or accessory building such as offices and studios, provided that;
 - (a) No such persons other than those residing on the premises shall be engaged in such occupation;
 - (b) The use of the dwelling unit for home occupation shall be clearly incidental and subordinate to its use for residential purposes by its occupants, and not more than twenty-five (25) percent of the floor area of the dwelling unit shall be used in the conduct of the home occupation;
 - (c) There shall be no change in the outside appearance of the building or premises, or other visible evidence of the conduct of such home occupation;
 - (d) No equipment or process shall be used in such home occupation which creates noise, vibration, glare, fumes, odors, or electrical interference detectable to the normal senses off the lot, nor shall any equipment or process be used which creates visual or audible interference in any radio or television received off the premises. In the case of

- a two (2) family dwelling or multiple family dwelling, no use shall be permitted which affects another unit in the same building in the above mentioned ways:
- (e) There is no outside storage or display of merchandise;
- (f) There is no outside storage or use of equipment or machinery relative to the use;
- (g) Such home occupation does not include the retailing of stock in trade nor the sale or rental of any goods not produced within the premises; and
- (h) No traffic shall be generated by such home occupation in greater volumes than would be normally expected in a residential neighborhood, and any need for parking generated by the conduct of such home occupation shall be met off the street and in a location other than in the required front yard.

3.10 General Provisions Applicable to the Town Center (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)

- (a) **PURPOSE.** The purpose of this section is to implement the portions of Town of Walden Plan that promote the development of a mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly Town Center.
- (b) **INTENT.** It is the intent of this section to enable the development of Walden's Town Center in accordance with Article 1.01 of this Ordinance and in a manner that:
 - allows for an interconnected pattern of development
 - allows for a mixture of uses that promote a vibrant heart for the community;
 - allows for a mixture of housing types that meet a variety of needs for all walks of life;
 - promotes the inclusion of usable formal and informal open space;
 - creates a comfortable environment for pedestrians and bicyclists through appropriate building placement and sidewa.lk and street design; and
 - is sensitive to the unique environmental features of Walden.
- (c) TERRITORIAL APPLICABILITY. The Town Center is established with the Town of Walden Plan, where it is referred to as the "Taft Highway Focus Area." The Town Center is shown on the Town of Walden Zoning Map. Amendments to the boundaries of the Town Center may only be made through an amendment to the Town of Walden Plan or adoption of a new General Plan by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen in accordance with Article 10 of this Ordinance following a report by the Planning Commission.
- (d) **FUTURE ZONING DESIGNATIONS**. All future rezonings within the Town Center shall be in compliance with the Town of Walden Plan. The following zoning designations may be applied for in the Town Center:
 - TC-MU Town Center Mixed Use
 - TC-R Town Center Residential
- (e) **DESIGN REVIEW STANDARDS.** All development must follow the Town of Walden Design Review Standards, unless specifically listed as an exemption in the Design Review Standards.
- (f) Rezoning Application Procedures within the Town Center Boundary.
 - (1) Applicable Zones. Property owners and/or developers may apply for either the Town Center- Mixed Use or Town Center-Residential zones within the Town Center Boundary. The developer must illustrate how the proposed TC-MU or TC-R development will comply with the Town of Walden Plan.

- (2) Pre-Application Conference. A pre-application conference with the Town of Walden Staff, or their designee(s), is required prior to any application for approval under the TC district. The purpose of the pre-application conference is to provide an overview of the materials necessary to submit an application and a description of the process; answer questions related to development under the TC district; and determine and clarify issues that may arise. Applicants are encouraged to prepare and bring the following to the pre- application conference:
 - Sketch map of the site illustrating known constraints;
 - · Description or sketches of the proposed development or use;
 - Information or reports regarding topographic, geotechnical, and other known environmental constraints on the site:
 - · Information or concepts for stormwater;
 - · management and wastewater treatment; and
 - Any other supporting materials the applicant wishes to share about the development
- (3) Application. The application for the TC-MU or TC-R shall include the following:
 - Survey of existing conditions on the property showing the following: 5foot elevation; contours; natural drainage areas, streams, and wetlands;
 existing structures; existing rights-of-way and easements of record;
 existing paved areas or roads; live specimen trees exceeding 12 inches
 in diameter at breast height measuring from the natural ground; any
 features of the land that may impact development.
 - Conceptual site plan showing the following:
 - Adjacent parcels with measurements for reference if only a portion of a property is to be designated TC-MU or TC-R
 - Approximate location, size, and dimensions of the existing or proposed building(s)
 - o Property lines and building setback lines
 - Landscaped buffers when required by the Zoning Ordinance and/or Design Review Standards
 - Proposed streets, sidewalks, and right-of-ways
 - Proposed open spaces
 - Approximate location of any proposed public amenities such as parks, squares or greenways
 - Approximate parking area and calculations
 - Vehicular and pedestrian points of ingress and egress
 - Proposed septic field line area, backup field line area and/or wastewater system
 - Conceptual stormwater plan
 - A narrative impact statement of the project providing details on the following:
 - Traffic impact
 - Environmental Impact
 - Economic viability of proposed commercial uses

Supporting documentation for the narrative impact statement

Article 4. Zone Regulations

4.01 Agriculture Zone (A-1)

- (a) **Purpose of the A-1 Agriculture Zone.** Agriculture Zone is a district promoting the opportunity for agriculture and related uses within the Town of Walden.
- (b) Permitted Uses.
 - Livestock and fowl;
 - Single family Dwelling; (Ordinance #2009-280, 5/12/09)
 - Churches:
 - Barns;
 - Home occupations;
 - Municipal buildings, structures and parks;
 - Schools, libraries, and museums and;
 - Athletic fields, tennis and country clubs, with golf courses (excluding miniature golf and "Par 3" courses), parks, playgrounds, community swimming pools and recreational areas operated by membership organizations for the benefit of their members.

(Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)

- (c) **Accessory Uses Permitted**. Buildings, structures, and uses customarily incidental to any of the above uses when located on the same lot or tract.
- (d) **Special Uses Permitted**. Subject to the issuance of a Special Use Permit by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen:
 - Day care centers;
 - Bakeries (with fewer than five (5) persons engaged in the operation and conduct of said business);
 - Public utilities;
 - Cemeteries;
 - Assisted living facilities provided that the facility shall contain no more than eight
 (8) residents. Such facility may include two (2) additional persons (plus their
 dependents) acting as houseparents or guardians, who need not be related to
 the persons residing in the house;
 - Manufactured homes constructed as a single, self-contained unit and mounted on a single chassis;
 - Bed and breakfast; and
 - Commercial radio, television, telephone and microwave towers.
 - Agriculture, nurseries, greenhouses and truck gardens;
 - Farm stand, a stand for the sale of products grown or produced on the premise provided:
 - a) That the stand does not exceed two hundred (200) square feet in area;
 - b) That any such stand shall not be closer than twenty-five (25) feet to any street or road right-of-way line;
 - c) Adequate customer parking will be provided off of the right-of-way;
 - Stables and kennels (Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)
- (e) Area Regulations.
 - Minimum Yard Requirements.
 - a) Front Yard: Fifty (50) feet.

- b) Side Yard: For single-story dwellings and accessory structures, side yards shall be not less than twenty-five (25) feet and four (4) feet shall be provided on each side yard for each additional story or part thereof. For the building of churches, schools or other permitted uses and their accessory structures, other than dwellings, there shall be a side yard of not less than thirty-five (35) feet.
- Rear Yard: There shall be a rear yard for a main building of not less than thirty-five (35) feet.
 Unattached buildings of accessory use shall not be located closer to a rear lot than fifteen (15) feet.
- Minimum Lot Area.
 - d) The minimum lot area shall be twenty (20) acres.
 - e) The Health Department may require larger lots when septic tanks are used due to soil conditions, topography, drainage, presence of swimming pools, etc.
- Minimum Lot Depth and Frontage. The minimum frontage of any lot shall be one hundred and fifty (150) feet with a minimum depth of two hundred (200) feet.
- (f) **Height Regulations.** No building or structure shall exceed two and one-half (2 ½) stories or thirty-five (35) feet in height.
- (g) **Sanitary Wastewater Discharge Requirements.** All buildings or other structures, the use of which may generate wastewater that may contain human or animal wastes, shall comply with applicable requirements of Article 5.

4.02 Estate Zone (E-1)

- (a) **Purpose of E-1 Estate Zone**. The Estate Zone district accommodates low-density development while providing for agricultural uses.
- (b) **Permitted Uses.**
 - Single family Dwelling; (Ordinance #2009-280, 5/12/09)
 - Churches:
 - Barns:
 - Home occupations;
 - Day care homes:
 - Municipal buildings, structures and parks;
 - Schools, libraries, and museums;
 - Agriculture, nurseries, greenhouses, and truck gardens;
 - Farm stand, a stand for the sale of products grown or produced on the premise provided:
 - a) That the stand does not exceed two hundred (200) square feet in area:
 - b) That any such stand shall not be closer than twenty-five (25) feet to any street or road right-of-way line;
 - c) All necessary parking accommodated on premises; and
 - Athletic fields, tennis and country clubs, with golf courses (excluding miniature golf and "Par 3" courses), playgrounds, community swimming pools and recreational areas operated by membership organizations for the benefit of their members.

(Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)

- (c) **Accessory Uses Permitted**. Buildings, structures, and uses customarily incidental to any of the above uses when located on the same lot or tract.
- (d) **Special Uses Permitted**. Subject to the issuance of a Special Use Permit by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen:
 - Day care centers;
 - Bakeries (with fewer than five (5) persons engaged in the operation and conduct of the business);
 - Public utilities:
 - Cemeteries:
 - Assisted living facilities provided that the facility shall contain no more than eight
 (8) residents. Such facility may include two (2) additional persons (plus their
 dependents) acting as houseparents or guardians, who need not be related to
 the persons residing in the house; and
 - Bed and Breakfasts.
 - Stables, raising and maintaining of livestock or fowl for non-commercial use. It shall be unlawful for any person to own, keep or maintain any livestock or fowl on land that does not satisfy the applicable provisions of Article 3 of this Ordinance. (Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)
- (e) Area Regulations.
 - Minimum Yard Requirements.
 - a) Front Yard: Fifty (50) feet.
 - b) Side Yard: For single-story dwellings and accessory structures, side yards shall be not less than twenty-five (25) feet and four (4) feet shall be provided on each side yard for each additional story or part thereof.

For the building of churches, schools or other permitted uses and their

- accessory structures, other than dwellings, there shall be a side yard of not less than thirty-five (35) feet.
- c) Rear Yard: There shall be a rear yard for a main building of not less than thirty-five (35) feet.

Unattached buildings of accessory use shall not be located closer to a rear lot than fifteen (15) feet.

Minimum Lot Area.

- d) The minimum lot area shall be five (5) acres.
- e) The Health Department may require larger lots when septic tanks are used due to soil conditions, topography, drainage, presence of swimming pools, etc.
- Minimum Lot Depth and Frontage. The minimum frontage of any lot shall be one hundred and fifty (150) feet with a minimum depth of two hundred (200) feet.
- (f) **Height Regulations.** No building or structure shall exceed two and one-half (2 ½) stories or thirty-five (35) feet in height.
- (g) **Sanitary Wastewater Discharge Requirements.** All buildings or other structures, the use of which may generate wastewater that may contain human or animal wastes, shall comply with applicable requirements of Article 5.

4.03 Residential Zone (R-1)

- (a) **Purpose of Residential Zone**. The Residential Zone (R-1) district encourages low- density residential development.
- (b) **Permitted Uses.**
 - Single family Dwelling; (Ord. 2009-280, 5/12/09)
 - Home occupations;
 - Day care homes;
 - Churches;
 - Municipal parks; and
 - Schools.
- (c) **Accessory Uses Permitted**. Accessory buildings, structures, and uses customarily incidental to permitted uses when located on the same lot or tract.
- (d) **Special Uses Permitted**. Subject to the issuance of a Special Use Permit by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen:
 - Public utilities:
 - Day care centers;
 - Assisted living facilities provided that the facility shall contain no more than eight
 (8) residents. Such facility may include two (2) additional persons (plus their
 dependents) acting as houseparents or guardians, who need not be related to
 the persons residing in the house.;
 - Cemeteries: and
 - Bed and Breakfasts.

(Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)

(e) Area Regulations.

- Minimum Yard Requirements.
 - a) Front Yard: Twenty-five (25) feet.
 - b) Side Yard: For single-story dwellings and accessory structures, side yards shall be not less than twenty-five (25) feet and four (4) feet shall be provided on each side yard for each additional story or part thereof. For the building of churches, schools or other permitted uses and their accessory structures, other than dwellings, there shall be a side yard of not less than thirty-five (35) feet.
 - c) Rear Yard: There shall be a rear yard for a main building of not less than twenty-five (25) feet.

Unattached buildings of accessory use shall not be located closer to a rear lot than ten (10) feet.

Minimum Lot Area.

- d) The minimum lot area shall be two (2) acres.
- e) The Health Department may require larger lots when septic tanks are used due to soil conditions, topography, drainage, presence of swimming pools, etc.
- Minimum Lot Depth and Frontage. The minimum frontage of any lot shall be seventy-five (75) feet with a minimum depth of one hundred (100) feet.
- **Height Regulations.** No building or structure shall exceed two and one-half (2 ½) stories or thirty-five (35) feet in height.
- Sanitary Wastewater Discharge Requirements. All buildings or other structures, the use of which may generate wastewater that may contain human or animal wastes, shall comply with applicable requirements of Article 5.

4.04 General Commercial Zone (C-1) (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)

(a) **Purpose of General Commercial Zone (C-1)**. This district is established to provide guidelines for existing or future commercial properties and service uses, which may be oriented to the automobile or pedestrian trade. This district is designed to accommodate such commercial uses as permitted in a manner that will minimize interference with through traffic movements.

(b) **Principal Uses Permitted.**

- Art galleries and studios;
- Audio recording shops;
- Bakeries:
- Commercial banks and savings banks;
- Beauty shops and barber shops;
- Book stores;
- Restaurants and cafes;
- Churches;
- Clothing shops;
- Craft shops;
- Decorator shops:
- Dry cleaning shops (pick-up and drop-off only);
- . Fabric stores:
- Florist shops;
- Convenience stores;
- Gift shops;
- Hardware stores:
- Home occupations;
- Horticultural nurseries and greenhouses;
- Inns
- Jewelry stores;
- Lawn and garden shops;
- Municipal buildings, structures and parks;
- Musical instrument shops;
- Office/school supply and stationary shops;
- Offices:
- Paint and wallpaper shops;
- Parks:
- Pharmacies:
- Photocopying, Packaging, and telecopy services;
- Printing
- Schools;
- Shoe stores:
- Single-family dwellings (Ord. #2009-280, 5/12/09)
- Theaters:
- Toy stores;
- Travel agencies;
- Furniture shops'
- Produce stands:
- Bed and breakfasts:
- Daycare centers.
- (c) **Special Uses Permitted**. Subject to the issuance of a Special Use Permit by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen:

- Plumbing and electrical shops, radio and TV shops, appliance repair shops, and similar workshop type uses provided that not more than three (3) repair persons are employed within;
- Cemeteries;
- Public utilities:
- Assisted living facilities;
- Commercial radio, television, telephone, and microwave towers;
- Liquor Stores (Ord. 2004-241 1/11/05)
- In general, all stores, shops, or services similar in character, type and effect to the uses permitted in 4.04(b), unless otherwise controlled or provided by law. (Ord. 2005-248. 8/9/05)
- Hotel/Motel; and (Ord. 2009-280, 5/12/09)
- Short-term Vacation Rentals. (Ord. 2009-280, 5/12/09)
- Any individual building or structure, regardless of use, with a gross floor area of all floors combined greater than 5,000 square feet. (Ord. 2024-364, 6/11/24)

(d) Administrative Procedures Specific to the C-1 District

- Pre-Application Conference. A pre-application conference with the Board of Aldermen or their designee(s) is required prior to any application for approval of new development under the C-1 district. Additionally, a pre-application conference with Town of Walden staff is encouraged prior to any application for approval of new development under the C-1 district. The purpose of the pre-application conference is to provide an overview of the materials necessary to submit an application and a description of the process; answer questions related to development under the C-1 district; and determine and clarify issues that may arise. Applicants are encouraged to prepare and bring the following to the pre-application conference:
 - Sketch map of the site illustrating known constraints;
 - Description or sketches of the proposed development or use;
 - Information or reports regarding topographic, geotechnical, and other known environmental constraints on the site;
 - Information or concepts for stormwater management and wastewater treatment; and
 - Any other supporting materials the applicant wishes to share about the development.
- Site and Building Plan Review. Site and Building Plan review by the Walden Design Review Board is required for new non-residential construction and additions to existing buildings that increase the gross building area by twenty-five percent (25%) or greater. Applicants shall submit a Site and Building Plan application to the Town of Walden for consideration by the Design Review Board. Submission requirements and design standards can be found in the Town of Walden Design Review Standards.
- (e) **Area Regulations.** Within the Town Center, structures and lots shall meet the dimensional requirements of the Walden Design Review Standards. Outside of the Town Center, the following dimensional requirements apply:
 - **Height.** No building or structure shall exceed two and one-half (2 ½) stories or thirty (30) feet in height.
 - Width to Depth Ratio. For any proposed footprint, the smaller building façade

shall front the street.

Minimum Yard Requirements.

a) Front Yard: Twenty (20) feet.

b) Side Yard: Twenty-five (25) feet unless it abuts an A-1 Zone, R-1

Zone or E-1 Zone in which case it shall be forty (40)

feet.

c) Rear Yard. Twenty-five (25) feet unless it abuts an A-1 Zone, R-1

Zone or E-1 Zone in which case it shall be forty (40)

feet.

- Building Size. No building or structure constructed within the C-1 General Commercial one shall have a footprint of greater than 5,000 square feet. For buildings or structure footprints with a proposed footprint greater than 5,000 square feet see Special Uses Permitted. (Ord.2017-318, 7/11/17).
- Curb-Cuts. No lot access shall be permitted to Taft Highway (U.S. 127) if public access to such lot exists by another street or right-of-way, either opened or unopened. Such unopened access shall be paved to Town of Walden standards and dedicated to the Town of Walden. The use of shared points of ingress and egress is encouraged. (Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)
- (f) **Sanitary Wastewater Requirements**. All buildings or other structures, the use of which may generate wastewater that may contain human or animal wastes, shall comply with applicable requirements of Article 5.

4.05 TOWN CENTER MIXED USE (TC-MU) (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)

- (a) PURPOSE. The purpose of the Town Center-Mixed Use zone is to implement the portions of Town of Walden Plan that promote the development of a mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly Town Center for the Town of Walden.
- (b) INTENT. It is the intent of the TC-MU zone, in accordance with 1.01 of this Ordinance is to allow for a allows for a mixture of uses that promote a vibrant heart for the community within the Town Center; to allow an interconnected pattern of development; to promote usable formal and informal open space; creates a comfortable environment for pedestrians and bicyclists through appropriate building placement and sidewalk and street design; and is sensitive to the unique environmental features of Walden.
- (c) DESIGN REVIEW STANDARDS. All development must follow the Town of Walden Design Review Standards, unless specifically listed as an exemption in the Design Review Standards.
- (d) LAND USE
 - (1) Permitted Land Uses
 - (1) Art galleries and studios;
 - (2) Bakeries;
 - (3) Commercial banks and savings banks;
 - (4) Beauty shops and barber shops;
 - (5) Book stores;
 - (6) Restaurants and cafes;
 - (7) Churches;
 - (8) Clothing shops;
 - (9) Craft shops;
 - (10) Decorator shops;
 - (11) Dry cleaning shops;
 - (12) Fabric stores;
 - (13) Florist shops;
 - (14) Gift shops;
 - (15) Grocery stores;
 - (16) Hardware stores;
 - (17) Home occupations;
 - (18) Health, wellness and fitness centers;

- (19) Jewelry stores;
- (20) Lawn and garden shops;
- (21) Liquor sales;
- (22) Live/Work townhouses;
- (23) Municipal buildings, structures and parks;
- (24) Musical instrument shops;
- (25) Nail Salon;
- (26) Office/school supply and stationary shops;
- (27) Offices;
- (28) Paint and wallpaper shops;
- (29) Parks;
- (30) Pharmacies;
- (31) Photocopying, postage, packaging, and telecopy services;
- (32) Printing;
- (33) Schools;
- (34) Shoe stores;
- (35) Theaters;
- (36) Toy stores;
- (37) Travel agencies
- (38) Assisted Living Facilities;
- (39) Multi-family dwellings on upper floors of nonresidential or mixed- use buildings; and
- (40) Single-family attached Townhouses.
- (2) **Special Uses Permitted**. Subject to the issuance of a Special Use Permit by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen:
 - Hotel/Motel;
 - (2) Indoor event venues;
 - (3) Public utilities;
 - (4) Short-term vacation rentals;
 - (5) In general, all stores, shops, or services similar in character, type and effect to the uses permitted as listed in 4.05.(d)(a), but not listed as permitted by right, unless otherwise controlled or provided by law; and

(6) Any building with uses permitted in the TC-MU zone or uses permitted by Special Use Permit with a gross floor area of all floors combined greater than 5,000 sq. ft. but not to exceed 15,000square feet. (Ord. 2024-364, 6/11/24)

(3) Uses Prohibited

- (1) Auto repair;
- (2) Auto sales;
- (3) Commercial radio, television, telephone, microwave towers; and
- (4) Gasoline service stations
- (5) All other uses not listed under "Permitted" or "Special Uses Permitted" in the TC-MU zone

(e) CONFLICTING PROVISIONS

- (1) Conflict with State or Federal Regulations. If the provisions of the TC-MU zone are inconsistent with those of the state or federal government, the more restrictive provision will control, to the extent permitted by law. The more restrictive provision is the one that imposes more stringent controls.
- (2) Conflict with other Town Regulations. If the provisions of the TC-MU zone are inconsistent with one another, or if they conflict with applicable provisions found in other adopted ordinances or regulations of the Town the provisions of the TC-MU will control.
- (f) Open Space. Open space is required for all development within the Town Center Boundary. See the Walden Design Review Standards for Open Space requirements.

(g) DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS

All dimensional requirements, including setbacks and building height shall be governed by the Walden Design Review Standards. Single family attached or detached residential structures are exempt from the design review process. However, single family attached structures in the Town Center Mixed Use (TC-MU) are required to meet the dimensional requirements of Article III of the Walden Design Review Standards. Compliance with these regulations can be assessed by staff review.

(h) PARKING REQUIREMENTS

(1) Number of Spaces Required

- a) Residential uses: one and one half (1.5) spaces per dwelling unit
- b) Non-residential uses: four (4) spaces per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area
- (2) Required parking, except for required accessible spaces, may be located off-site, if located within six hundred (600) feet of the primary pedestrian entrance.
- (3) On-street parking may be allowed to meet off-street parking requirements. An applicant may be credited with one or more legally permitted on-street parking spaces located on a public right-of-way or private street immediately adjacent to the subject lot's street frontage toward the required minimum off-street parking. The location and number of on-street parking spaces shall be identified on the submitted site plan.
- (4) Parking Requirement Reduction The Design Review Board may approve a site plan with fewer off-street parking spaces than generally required by this section. In evaluating such requests, the Design Review Board shall determine if the proposed commercial use, projected parking demand, shared parking arrangements, or other factors to justify a reduction in the parking requirements. Planning staff shall review all proposed parking reductions and submit recommendations to the Design Review Board.
- (5) See the Walden Design Review Standards for parking lot design requirements.

4.06 Town Center Residential (TC-R) (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)

- (a) **PURPOSE**. The purpose of the Town Center-Residential zone is to implement the portions of Town of Walden Plan that promote the development of a pedestrian-friendly Town Center neighborhood of mixed housing types for the Town of Walden.
- (b) **INTENT**. It is the intent of the TC-R zone is to allow for the development of the Town Center residential neighborhood with a mixture of housing types for all walks of life; to allow an interconnected pattern of development; to promote usable formal and informal open space; creates a comfortable environment for pedestrians and bicyclists through appropriate building placement and sidewalk and street design; and is sensitive to the unique environmental features of Walden.
- (c) **DESIGN REVIEW STANDARDS.** All development must follow the design standards established in the Town of Walden Design Review Standards, unless specifically exempt in Article 1 Section III of the Design Review Standards.

(d) LAND USE

(1) **Permitted Land Uses**

- (1) Accessory dwelling units;
- (2) Churches;
- (3) Day care homes;
- (4) Home occupations;
- (5) Multi-family dwellings;
- (6) Municipal parks;
- (7) Schools;
- (8) Single-family attached Townhouses; and
- (9) Single-family detached dwellings
- (2) **Special Uses Permitted.** Subject to the issuance of a Special Use Permit by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen:
 - (1) Public utilities;
 - (2) Day care centers;
 - (3) Assisted living facilities provided that the facility shall contain no more than eight (8) residents. Such facility may include two (2) additional persons (plus their dependents) acting as house parents or guardians, who need not be related to the persons residing in the house.; and
 - (4) Bed and Breakfasts.

(3) Uses Prohibited

- (1) Auto repair;
- (2) Auto sales;
- (3) Commercial radio, television, telephone, microwave towers; and
- (4) Gasoline service stations
- (5) All other uses not listed under "Permitted" or "Special Uses Permitted" in the TC-R zone

(e) **CONFLICTING PROVISIONS**

- (1) Conflict with State or Federal Regulations. If the provisions of the TC-R zone are inconsistent with those of the state or federal government, the more restrictive provision will control, to the extent permitted by law. The more restrictive provision is the one that imposes more stringent controls.
- (2) Conflict with other Town Regulations. If the provisions of the TC-R zone

are inconsistent with one another, or if they conflict with applicable provisions found in other adopted ordinances or regulations of the Town the provisions of the TC-R zone will control.

(f) **Open Space.** Open space is required for all development within the Town Center Boundary. See the Walden Design Review Standards for Open Space requirements.

(g) **DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS**

All dimensional requirements, including setbacks and building height shall be governed by the Walden Design Review Standards. Single family attached or detached residential structures are exempt from the design review process. However, single family attached and detached structures in the Town Center – Residential (TC-R) Zone are required to meet the dimensional requirements of Article III of the Walden Design Review Standards. Compliance with these regulations can be assessed by staff review.

(h) **PARKING REQUIREMENTS**

- (1) Number of Spaces RequiredResidential uses: one and one half (1.5) spaces per dwelling unit
 - (a) Non-residential uses: four (4) spaces per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area
 - (b) Required parking, except for required accessible spaces, may be located off-site, if located within six hundred (600) feet of the primary pedestrian entrance.
- (2) Required parking, except for required accessible spaces, may be located off-site, if located within six hundred (600) feet of the primary pedestrian entrance.
- (3) On-street parking may be allowed to meet off-street parking requirements. An applicant may be credited with one or more legally permitted on-street parking spaces located on a public right-of-way or private street immediately adjacent to the subject lot's street frontage toward the required minimum off-street parking. The location and number of on-street parking spaces shall be identified on the submitted site plan.
- (4) Parking Requirement Reduction The Design Review Board may approve a site plan with fewer off-street parking spaces than generally required by this section. In evaluating such requests, the Design Review Board shall determine if the proposed commercial use, projected parking demand, shared parking arrangements, or other factors to justify a reduction in the parking requirements. Planning staff shall review all proposed parking reductions and submit recommendations to the Design Review Board.
- (5) See the Walden Design Review Standards for parking lot design requirements.

4.07 Light Manufacturing Zone (LM-1)

- (a) **Purpose of Light Manufacturing Zone (LM-1)** This zone is established to allow for light manufacturing that employs twenty (20) people or less.
- (b) **Principal Uses Permitted.**
 - Bakeries:
 - Printing; and
 - Offices.
- (c) **Special Uses Permitted.** Subject to the issuance of a Special Permit by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen:
 - Accessory buildings commensurate with approved building subject to all applicable regulations and restrictions of this and other adopted ordinances; and
 - Public utilities:
 - Adult-oriented establishments; and
 - Warehouses (mini or self-storage).
- (d) **Area Regulations.**
 - Height. No building or structure shall exceed two and one-half (2 ½) stories or thirty-five (35) feet in height.
 - Minimum Yard Requirements.
 - a) Front Yard: Fifty (50) feet.
 - b) Side Yard: Twenty-five (25) feet unless it abuts an R-1 Zone or E-1 Zone in which case it shall be forty (40) feet.
 - c) Rear Yard: Twenty-five (25) feet unless it abuts an R-1 Zone or E-1 Zone in which case it shall be forty (40) feet.
 - Curb-Cuts. No lot access shall be permitted to Taft Highway (U.S. 127) if public
 access to such lot exists by another street or right-of-way, either opened or
 unopened. Such unopened access shall be paved to Town of Walden standards
 and dedicated to the Town of Walden.
 - Sanitary Wastewater Requirements. All buildings or other structures, the use of which may generate wastewater that may contain human or animal wastes, shall comply with applicable requirements of Article 5.

4.08 Open Space Overlay Zone (OS-1)

- (a) Purpose and Intent of Open Space Overlay Zone.
 - Intent. The Open Space Overlay Zone (OS-1) is intended to provide a voluntary residential development option with A-1 and E-1 Zones that protects open space and natural resources, and retains the predominantly rural character of the Town of Walden.
 - Purpose. The purposes of the Open Space Overlay Zone are:
 - a) To allow development that permanently preserves the open space, pasturelands, woodlands, wetlands, critical views, creeks, and other natural features within the Town of Walden;
 - b) To connect open space, trails, and recreation sites within the Zone and to integrate the open space and recreation system of the Town of Walden;
 - To allow flexibility in the placement and type of dwelling units within the subdivision;
 - d) To promote the integration of woodlands, pasturelands, and creeks, into the overall development framework;
 - e) To promote the use of shared septic, drinking water and stormwater systems that prevent the degradation of water quality;
 - f) To reduce the amount of new roads and to allow flexibility in road specifications for roads serving residences in the Zone; and
 - g) To reduce the amount of impervious surfaces in subdivisions, including driveways.

(b) Development Standards for Open Space Design/Conservation Subdivision.

- Minimum Size of Subdivision. The minimum size of a conservation subdivision in the OS-1 Zone is twenty (20) acres.
- Open Space Requirement.
 - a) A minimum of fifty (50) percent of the total tract area shall be designated as open space.
 - b) There are two (2) types of open space: Primary Conservation Areas and Secondary Conservation Areas.
 - 1) Primary Conservation Areas:
 - a. are lands identified in the Resource Inventory and subdivision application as being unbuildable, including all wetlands, 100-year floodplains, steep slopes of twenty-five (25) percent or greater, and streamside zones; and
 - that must be set aside as open space under permanent conservation easement for all OS-1 subdivision.
 - 2) Secondary Conservation Areas:
 - a. typically include mature woodlands, aquifer recharge areas, areas with permeable ("excessively drained") soil, significant wildlife habitat areas, sites listed as Historic Landmarks by the State of Tennessee, prime farmland, and scenic views into the property from existing public roads; and
 - b. that may be set aside as open space.
 - c) Designated open space shall be placed in undivided preserves, which may adjoin housing areas that have been designed more compactly create larger areas that may be enjoyed equally by all residents of the

- development.
- d) Where possible, designated open space shall be contiguous with open space uses on adjacent developments in order to provide large expanses of open space.
- e) Access shall be directly accessible to the largest practicable number of lots within the open space development. To achieve this, the majority of house lots should abut undivided open space in order to provide direct views and access.
- f) Where the undivided open space is designated as separated, non-contiguous parcels, no parcel shall consist of less than three (3) acres in area nor have a length to width ration in excess of 4:1, except such areas that are specifically designed as village greens, ball fields, upland buffers to wetlands, water bodies, or watercourses; or designed as trail links.
- Open Space Ownership and Management. All lands and improvements in designated open space shall be established, managed and maintained in accordance with the following guidelines:
 - 1) Designated open space must be restricted from further development by a permanent conservation easement running with the land. The permanent conservation easement must be submitted with the preliminary site plan and approved by the Town of Walden and duly recorded in the Hamilton County Register's Office in accordance with Tennessee's "Conservation Act of 1981" (Tenn. Code Ann. 66-9-301 et seq.). The permanent conservation easement must specify:
 - a. What entity will maintain the designated open space;
 - b. Purposes of the conservation easement and the conservation values of the property;
 - c. Legal description of the land under the easement:
 - d. Restrictions on the use of the land;
 - e. Restriction from future development of the land;
 - f. Standards by which the open space will be maintained; and
 - g. Right of accessibility to the Town's residents for passive recreation to the limit that it effects adjoining property owners.
 - b) Ownership of the underlying fee of each designated open space parcel, subject to the terms of the permanent conservation easement, may be held by any group or individual who will use the land in accordance with the permanent conservation easement.
 - c) The owner of the underlying fee shall be responsible for the payment of taxes and assessments on any designated open space parcel.
- Utilities. Individual well and septic systems are allowed in conservation subdivisions; however, common utilities (shared water and/or sewer or septic systems) are encouraged. Common utilities shall meet Department of Environment and Conservation, Division of Ground Water Protection standards for subsurface sewage disposal systems and must meet design and installation requirements of the Hamilton County Health Department. Each lot must be approved by the Hamilton County Health Department for adequate waste treatment before the Town of Walden may approve the final plat.

- a) Communally operated waste treatment systems consist of all waste treatment improvements that do not operate within the confines of a single parcel. For example, a development that provided septic tanks for each individual lot but uses a shared drainage overflow field located outside of the individual lot where the septic tank is located is considered as a communally operated waste treatment system.
- b) All waste treatment systems are subject to the review and approval of the State of Tennessee and/or the Hamilton County Public Health Department.
- c) Communal drainfields for shared septic systems may be partially or completely located in designated Secondary Conservation Areas, provided that:
 - The dedicated open space parcel containing the communal drainfield is owned in fee by a common ownership association and membership in the association by all property owners using the drainfield shall be mandatory;
 - The common ownership association is responsible for maintenance and repair of the communal drainfield:
 - Recreational uses are prohibited above or within fifty (50) feet of communal drainfields;
 - 4) The conservation easement for the dedicated open space parcel describes the location of the communal drainfield; and
 - 5) The communal drainfield does not occupy more than fifty (50) percent of the open space.
- Lot and Building Site Design. Lots and building sites shall meet the following objectives and the Board of Mayor and Aldermen shall consider the following in making a determination as to whether to approve or deny an application for an Open Space Overlay Zone: (Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)
 - a) Locate individual and communal septic systems on the most suitable soils for sub-surface septic disposal.
 - b) Locate building sites to minimize the impact on forest land and to maximize the continuity of forest lands. Woodlands of any size on highly erodeable soils with slopes greater than ten (10) percent should be avoided wherever possible.
 - c) The location of house lots and driveways within wooded areas is generally recommended, except in situations where the preservation of significant wildlife habitat or mature woodlands raises an equal of greater preservation concern. Great care should be taken in woodland development to design all disturbed areas in locations where there are no large trees or obvious wildlife areas, to the fullest extent that is practicable.
 - d) Locate building sites in areas least likely to block or interrupt scenic vistas as viewed from roads. In wooded areas where the sense of enclosure is a feature that should be maintained, an one hundred (100) feet deep "no-build, no-cut" buffer as measured from the street right-of- way should be respected to preserve existing vegetation.
 - e) Locate building sites away from prominent hilltops or ridges.
 - f) Design around and preserve sites of natural significance, such as existing hedgerows and/or tree lines between field and meadows, streams, creeks, etc.

- g) Design around and preserve sites of historic, archeological, or cultural value, and their environs, insofar as needed to safeguard the character of the feature, including stone walls, spring houses, barn foundations, earthworks, burial grounds, etc.
- Streets. Streets within the OS-1 Open Space Overlay Zone shall be developed according to the following standards that promote road safety, minimize visual impacts, and minimize impervious surfaces:
 - Streets shall be designed to minimize the visual size and scale of the development and help discourage excessive speeds.
 - b) Street widths and construction shall conform to the width and standard shown in the street standards as adopted by the Town of Walden and the Town of Walden Subdivision Regulations.
 - c) The number of local street intersections with collector and arterial roads should be minimized, however, the applicant must demonstrate that such intersections are adequate, have the capacity to handle traffic generated by the proposed project, and will not endanger the safety of the general public.
 - d) If a subdivision in the OS-1 Open Space Overlay Zone abuts another subdivision or existing development, direct links should be made to emphasize the connection between existing and new development.
 - e) Streets shall be located to avoid or minimize adverse impacts on Conservation Areas.
 - f) Streets traversing existing slopes over fifteen (15) percent shall be allowed only if not other reasonable alternative exists.
 - g) Streets shall be encouraged to minimize the number of new cul-desacs to be maintained by the Town of Walden and to facilitate easy access to and from homes.
 - h) Where cul-de-sacs are necessary, those serving six (6) or fewer homes may be designed with hammerheads (as defined herein).
 - i) Cul-de-sacs shall generally be designed with a central island containing native trees and shrubs.
 - j) A pedestrian circulation system designed to assure that pedestrians can walk safely and easily on the site, between properties and activities or special features within the neighborhood open space system. All roadside footpaths should connect with off-road trails, which in turn should link with potential open space on adjoining undeveloped parcels (or existing open space on adjoining developed parcels, where applicable).
 - k) Streets, including entrances, shall be located in such a manner that will allow for the safe and efficient movement of traffic. (Ord. 2005-248 8/9/05)
- Application Process. The application process is designed to take ninety (90) days starting with the submission of a concept plan. The Planning Commission and the Board of Mayor and Aldermen shall have the responsibility for reviewing open space development proposals under this Article in accordance with the following five-step procedure:
 - a) **Step One.** A pre-application meeting with the Town Recorder to discuss:
 - 1) The application process;
 - 2) The Town of Walden's Zoning, Subdivision, and open space regulations;

- Any proposed common ownership plans for land and structures; and
- 4) Management and ownership of designated open space.
- b) **Step Two.** Submittal of a Draft Concept Plan that contains:
 - 1) Base mapping at a scale of 1" = 100' (one inch equals 100 feet);
 - 2) A mapped Resource Inventory that includes:
 - topographic contours at 10-foot intervals based at least upon topographical maps published by the U.S. Geological Survey and showing all slopes over twenty- five (25) percent;
 - b. hydrologic characteristics, including surface water bodies, floodplains, wetlands, natural swales and drainageways;
 - vegetation present on the site according to cover type (pasture, woodland, etc.) and vegetative type (classified as generally deciduous, coniferous or mixed);
 - d. historic sites; and
 - d. current land use including all buildings and structures;
 - 3) A Site Analysis that identifies, precisely locates, and calculates the acreage of Primary Conservation Areas, Secondary Conservation Areas, and remaining developable area:
 - A map showing connections to dedicated open space or preservation areas;
 - 5) Street, open space and lot layout. (Street and lot layout shall follow guidelines previously listed.);
 - 6) Street sections;
 - 7) Building setbacks;
 - 8) Landscape plan;
 - 9) Conservation plan;
 - 10) Utility easements; and
 - 11) If applicable, statement of intent to establish a homeowner's association.
- c) Step Three. A meeting with the Town of Walden staff or designated planning agency to review the Draft Concept Plan. Review shall include an onsite tour. Town staff and/or planning agency staff shall schedule a mutually convenient date to walk the property with the applicant, their site designer, and the appropriate staff of Hamilton County (for unsewered developments). The purpose of this visit is to familiarize Town staff and/or the designated planning agency staff with the property features, and to provide the staff an opportunity to offer guidance to the applicant regarding the location of conservation areas and potential structure locations and street alignments before review by the Walden Planning Commission. The Draft Concept Plan should then be revised to reflect any agreed changes for presentation as a Concept Plan to the Walden Planning Commission. (Ord. 2024-364, 6/11/24)
- d) **Step Four.** Review of Concept Plan by the Walden Planning Commission. This Plan is a preliminary engineered plan drawn to illustrate the proposed layout for greenway lands, building sites, and

street alignments. This is the stage in which drawings are tentatively illustrated, before heavy engineering costs are incurred in the design of any proposed subdivision layout. The Concept Plan shall contain all of the elements of the Draft Concept Plan and will be the basis for the Site Plan. (Ord. 2024-364, 6/11/24)

- e) Step Five. Submission of a Site Plan for review by the Walden Planning Commission and the Board of Mayor and Aldermen. Once the Concept Plan has been completed, and preliminarily certified by an engineer, and referred by the Walden Planning Commission to the Board of Mayor and Aldermen the applicant shall complete a final engineered plat of the proposed subdivision and file this plat with Walden Town staff which shall review and forward the final plat to the Board of Mayor and Aldermen for final review within thirty (30) days of receiving the plat, assuming the applicant has provided the required information in a timely matter. All site plan approvals will be subject to the approval of the open space conservation plan and the dedication of required conservation easements. (Ord. 2024-364, 6/11/24)
- (c) **Permitted uses**. The uses of the underlying zone (R-1 or E-1) are permitted uses in the Open Space Overlay Zone.
- (d) **Accessory uses**. The accessory uses of the underlying zone (R-1 or E-1) are accessory uses in the Open Space Overlay Zone.
- (e) **Special Uses**. The special uses of the underlying zone (R-1 or E-1) may be permitted in the Open Space Overlay Zone with the approval of a Special Permit.
- (f) Yard, Area and Building Size requirements. The following are yard, area and building size regulations for permitted dwellings units in the Open Space Overlay Zone.
 - Area and bulk requirements in a conservation subdivision served by individual well and septic systems are as follows:
 - a) Minimum Lot area:
 - 1) The minimum lot area of each lot used for residential purposes shall be 12,000 square feet.
 - 2) The Health Department may require larger lots when septic tanks are used due to soil conditions, topography, drainage, presence of swimming pools, etc.
 - b) Lot width at front yard setback line: minimum of fifty (50) feet.
 - c) Yard dimensions:
 - 1) Front and rear yard: minimum twenty (20) feet;
 - 2) Side yard (each side): minimum ten (10) feet or ten (10) percent of lot width, whichever is greater.
 - d) Maximum building height: Thirty-five (35) feet (two and one half (2 1/2) stories, first finished floor level must be a minimum two (2) feet above grade).

Article 5. Sanitary Wastewater Discharge Requirements

- **5.01 Commercial Development.** No building permit shall be issued for any commercial development constructed after the effective date of this Ordinance unless the system meets the following regulations.
 - (a) Prepared, approved, signed, sealed, and designed by a professional engineer registered by the State of Tennessee normally engaged in designing septic systems;
 - (b) Designed and installed per requirements of Hamilton County Health Department and the regulations governing subsurface sewage disposal systems published by the Department of Environment and Conservation, Division of Ground Water Protection; or
 - (c) Any licensed engineer who varies from the requirements of the Hamilton County Health Department by changing their decision or specifications through the power or authority of his/her Engineer's license will be held responsible for the effective nonpolluting operation of the sewage system for a period of ten (10) years and shall furnish a performance bond equal to the installation cost plus thirty (30) percent, payable to the Town of Walden. This bond to be forfeited forty-five (45) days after notice or attempted notice by registered mail at the address furnished by the engineer at the time of the design change or modification. Should any lawsuit by the engineer, who designed and installed the system under discussion, against the Town of Walden for any reason pertaining to this sewage system at any time after inspection and acceptance by the Hamilton County Health Department and one other licensed engineer, who is qualified to participate in this inspection, said engineer who designed and installed the system agrees and accepts total legal costs for himself and the Town of Walden. The installing contractor also accepts responsibility to pay licensed engineer necessary to inspect the installation prior to acceptance by the Hamilton County Health Department.
- **5.02** Residential Development. No building permit or occupancy permit shall be issued for any residential dwelling unit constructed after the effective date of this Ordinance unless the system meets the following regulation:
 - (a) Design and installation requirements of Hamilton County Health Department;
 - (b) Regulations governing subsurface sewage disposal systems, Department of Environment and Conservation, Division of Ground Water Protection; and
 - Any licensed engineer who varies from the requirements of the Hamilton County (c) Health Department by changing their decision or specifications through the power or authority of his/her engineer's license will be held responsible for the effective nonpolluting operation of the sewage system for a period of ten (10) years and shall furnish a performance bond equal to the installation cost plus thirty (30) percent, payable to the Town of Walden. This bond to be forfeited forty-five (45) days after notice or attempted notice by registered mail at the address furnished by the engineer at the time of the design change or modification. Should any lawsuit by the engineer, who designed and installed the system under discussion, against the Town of Walden for any reason pertaining to this sewage system at any time after inspection and acceptance by the Hamilton County Health Department and one other licensed engineer, who is qualified to participate in this inspection, said engineer who designed and installed the system agrees and accepts total legal costs for himself and the Town of Walden. The installing contractor also accepts responsibility to pay licensed engineer necessary to inspect the installation prior to acceptance by the Hamilton County Health Department.

Article 6. Steep Slopes and Escarpment (Ord. 2023-359, 10/17/23)

- **6.01** Steep Slopes. Steep slope areas are classified into one of the following categories:
 - (a) Moderately Steep Slope Areas. Moderately steep slope areas are areas with slopes from 15 to 25 percent.
 - (1) Where moderately steep slopes are located within a building envelope, an engineered site plan shall be required.
 - (2) All roads and driveways located within moderately steep slope areas shall follow natural contour lines to the maximum extent practicable.
 - (b) **Very Steep Slope Areas**. Very steep slope areas are areas of five thousand (5,000) square feet or greater with slopes in excess of 25 percent.
 - (1) No building or structure shall be constructed on any slope of greater than twenty five percent (25%), as shown on slope maps in the office of the Hamilton County Department of Building and Zoning.
 - (2) Very steep slope areas shall be preserved as open space when required as part of a development.

(c) General Prohibition on Land Disturbance

- (1) Land disturbing activities, including but not limited to clearing, excavation, grading, construction, reconstruction, and investigative land disturbing activities such as test wells, are prohibited on any very steep slope area, except for the following activities:
 - a) Passive recreation uses, including trails for non-motorized use only; and
 - b) Utilities, driveways, or streets intended to improve connectivity as established in the Town of Walden Plan provided:
 - 1. No utilities, driveways, or street shall cross very steep slopes greater than 50 percent;
 - 2. Where utilities, driveways, or streets cross very steep slopes between 25 and 50 percent, the applicant must submit a geotechnical study demonstrating that such facility will not have significant adverse visual, environmental or safety impacts, or appropriate engineering or other measures will be taken by the developer to substantially mitigate any such adverse impact; and
 - 3. No alternative location for access or minor utilities is feasible or available.
- **6.02 Escarpment**. No building or structure shall be constructed within 100' of the easternmost city limit line of the Town of Walden, as of November 11, 2002, from, and including, Tax Map #081O-A-018 running southwesterly to, and including, Tax Map #108C-A-009.05. (Ord. #2005-248, 8/9/05)

Article 7. Administration and Enforcement

- **7.01 Permits Required.** A building permit shall be obtained from the Director of Building and Zoning of Hamilton County before starting or proceeding with the erection, alteration, or moving of any building or structure, or changing the use of any building, structure, or land, except that <u>no building permit</u> shall be required for (i) agricultural uses and accessory farm buildings, except where electricity and/or plumbing shall be installed a permit is required, (ii) for home gardening or similar uses in any zone, (iii) the remodeling or alteration of residential dwelling units where the cost of such remodeling is \$1,500.00 or less and does not involve plumbing, structural or electrical work or (iv) the construction of accessory buildings to dwelling units which otherwise conform to the requirements of this Ordinance if the cost of construction, remodeling, or alteration is \$1,500.00 or less and does not involve plumbing, structural or electrical work.
- **7.02 Fees for Permits.** All permits and penalties are established by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen and are subject to change by resolution of said board.
- **7.03 Building Permits and Inspection.** The Director of Building and Zoning of Hamilton County shall, among other things, administer the provisions of this Ordinance pertaining to the issuance or withholding of permits for the erection, alteration, and use of buildings, structures, and land as prescribed in this Ordinance. The permit office shall issue or withhold any permit, in any form, as directed by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen; failure to obtain a building permit shall be a misdemeanor with the penalties as provided by this Ordinance. The permit office shall not be liable for legal action for issuance of any such permit by the direction of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.
- **7.04 Enforcement.** It shall be the duty of all the officers otherwise charged with the enforcement of the law to enforce this Ordinance and all the provisions of the same.
- **7.05 Penalties for Violation.** Any person, firm, or corporation whether as principal, agent, employee, or otherwise violating any provisions of this Ordinance shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be punished by a fine of not less than \$25.00 or not more than \$500.00 per violation. Such person, firm, or corporation shall be deemed guilty of a separate offense for each day during which any violation of this Ordinance is committed, continued, or permitted by such person, firm, or corporation, and shall be punishable as herein provided.

7.06 Remedies for Removing Violations.

- (a) It shall be unlawful to erect, construct, reconstruct, alter, maintain, or use any building or structure or to use any land in violation of any provision of this Ordinance or any amendment thereof enacted or adopted by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.
- (b) Any person, firm, or corporation violating this regulation shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable as other misdemeanors as provided by law.
- (c) Each and every day during which such illegal erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, maintenance, or use continues shall be deemed a separate offense.
- (d) In case any building or structure is or is proposed to be erected, constructed, reconstructed, altered, maintained, or used or any land is or is proposed to be used in violation of this Ordinance or of any regulation, or provision enacted or adopted by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen under the authority granted by this Ordinance, the Town of Walden, acting by and through the board, may institute injunction, mandamus, abatement, or any other appropriate action, actions, proceeding, or proceedings to prevent, enjoin, abate, or remove such unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, maintenance, or use in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other right or remedy provided by this or any other Ordinance of the Town of Walden or any federal or state statute, rule, regulation, or law, whether at common law or in equity.

Article 8. Special Permits

7.01 Applications for a Special Permit:

Persons desiring consideration for a Special Permit shall apply to the Walden Planning Commission through the Town of Walden staff and shall supply information for such permit. Upon recommendation by the Walden Planning Commission, the Special Permit request shall be heard by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen. The Board shall determine that the proposed use will not be in conflict with the adopted plans of the Town of Walden and shall generally consider (i) the effect the proposed use will have on adjacent property; (ii) the public health, safety, morals and general welfare; and (iii) the need for such development. In addition to the criteria set forth above, the Board shall also consider the following with regard to the specific use. (Ord. 2024-364, 6/11/24)

A notice of the public hearings held by the Board shall be sent by regular mail to each of the property owners within a minimum of 300 feet of each property in question before the Board. Said notice will be mailed at least seven (7) days prior the public hearing by the Board. The most updated tax rolls for Hamilton County will be the source of ownership information for Board purposes. A notice of the public hearings held by the Board shall be published in a daily paper at least fifteen (15) days before the hearing. (Ord. # 2005-248, 8/9/05)

(a) Bed and Breakfasts in A-1, E-1 and R-1

The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may grant a Special Permit provided that the applicant furnishes satisfactory proof of convenience, necessity, and absences of harmful effect on surrounding property. It is a requirement that the applicant for a Special Permit furnish a site plan with the application that depicts the proposed use of the property to include but not limited to site access, building configuration, building setback, proposed landscaping and drainage and a parking plan together with other information as determined by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

(b) Cemeteries

The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may grant a Special Permit provided that the applicant furnishes satisfactory proof of convenience, necessity, and absences of harmful effect on surrounding property. It is a requirement that the applicant for a Special Permit furnish a site plan with the application that depicts the proposed use of the property to include but not limited to site access, building configuration, building setback, proposed landscaping and drainage and a parking plan together with other information as determined by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

(c) Day Care Centers

A Special Permit may be granted for a day care center in zones where a permit is required by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen, subject to:

- (1) A site plan being submitted showing the location of the building, playground area, driveways, parking and loading areas, and other materials, if requested;
- (2) The review and approval by an engineer designated by Walden of the points of ingress and egress, internal circulation, loading areas and on-site parking;
- (3) The installation of a secured playground; and
- (4) The residential character of the neighborhood is not diminished.

Issuance of a Special Use Permit by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen shall not be deemed to constitute evidence of or compliance with any federal or state requirements applicable to such day care center.

(d) Manufactured homes constructed as a single, self-contained unit and mounted on a

single chassis.

It is a requirement that the applicant for a Special Permit furnish a site plan with the application that depicts the proposed use of the property to include but not limited to site access, building configuration, and building setback together with other information as determined by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

- (e) Commercial radio, television, telephone, and microwave towers in the A-1 Agricultural Zone and the C-1 Commercial Zone provided that the requirements in Title 20, Chapter 4 of the Walden Municipal Code (Ordinance No. 99-208 and amendments thereto) are met.
- (f) Adult-oriented Establishments

For adult-oriented establishments in the LM-1 Light Manufacturing Zone, provided that the use meets the following definitions, conditions, restrictions and other provisions:

(1) Definitions

For the purpose of these regulations, certain terms and words shall be defined as follows:

- Adult: Any person who is eighteen (18) years of age or older.
- Adult-oriented Establishments: Sexually explicit establishments which cater to an exclusively adult clientele and including, but not limited to: adult bookstores, adult motion picture theaters, cabarets, massage parlors and other enterprises which regularly feature materials, acts or displays involving complete nudity or exposure of the "Specified Anatomical Areas" herein below defined and/or sexual excitement or enticement.
- Adult Book Store: An establishment having as a substantial or significant portion of its stock in trade, books, magazines, motion pictures, periodicals, and other materials which are distinguished or characterized by their emphasis on matter depicting, describing or relating to "Specified Anatomical Areas" (as defined below) or an establishment with a segment or section devoted to the sale or display of such material.
- Adult Motion Picture Theater: Any public place, whether open or enclosed, used for presenting material distinguished or characterized an emphasis on matter depicting, describing, or relating to "Specified Sexual Activities" or "Specified Anatomical Area" (as defined below) for observation by patrons therein.
- Cabaret: Any restaurant, bar, dance hall, nightclub or other such place which features exotic dancers, go-go dancers, strippers, male or female impersonators or similar entertainers.
- Massage Parlors: Any premises, public place, place of business or membership club where there is conducted the business or activity of furnishing, providing or giving for a fee or any other form of consideration a massage, a bath, body painting or similar massage services or procedure. This definition shall not be construed to include a hospital, nursing home, medical clinic or the office of a duly licensed physical surgeon, physical therapist, chiropractor or osteopath. Nor shall this definition be construed to include a barbershop or beauty salon operated by a duly licensed barber or cosmetologist, so long as any massage administered therein is limited to the head and neck.
- Massage: Shall mean the administering by any person by any method of exerting or applying pressure, friction, moisture, heat or cold to the human

body, and/or the rubbing, stroking, kneading, pounding, tapping, or otherwise manipulating a part or the whole of the human body or the muscles or joints thereof, by any physical or mechanical means. Massage shall also mean the giving, receiving, or administering of a bath to any person or the application of oil, lotion, body paint, or other such embrocating to any person.

- Minor: Any person less than eighteen (18) years of age.
- Public place: Shall mean any place to which the public or a substantial group of persons has access and congregates, regardless of whether admission is charged thereto, and includes, but is not limited to: businesses open to the public; highways; transportation facilities; schools; places of amusement; parks; playgrounds; hotels; theaters; auditoriums; restaurants; nightclubs; cocktail lounges; and burlesque houses.
- **School**: An academic learning center, whether pubic or private, from the level of nursery through twelfth grade.

Specified Sexual Activities

- (a) Human genitals in a state of actual or simulated sexual stimulation or arousal;
- (b) Acts of actual or simulated human masturbation, sexual intercourse or sodomy; and
- (c) Actual or simulated fondling or other erotic touching of human genitals, pubic region, buttock, or female breast.

Specified Anatomical Areas

- (d) Less than completely and opaquely covered:
 - (i) Human genitals, pubic region;
 - (ii) Buttock; and
 - (iii) Female breast below a point immediately above the top of the areola
- (e) Human male genitals in a discernibly turgid state, even if completely and opaquely covered.

(2) Location Restrictions

Adult-oriented establishments, as defined above, are absolutely and expressly prohibited from all parts of the Town of Walden, except those portions zoned LM-1 Light Manufacturing District. Furthermore, the location and operation of adult-oriented establishments within the above specified zones will not be permitted unless a Special Permit is obtained from the Town of Walden Board of Mayor and Aldermen, subject to the following additional restriction.

(3) Special Permit Restrictions for Adult-oriented Establishments

In no case shall an adult-oriented establishment be permitted to locate within 500 feet of any boundary of an A-1 Agricultural District, R-1 Residential District, E-1 Estate District, C-1 General Commercial District, VC-1 Village Center Zone or within 500 feet of a residential use within any zone, nor shall any proposed adult- oriented establishment be permitted to locate within 500 feet from the nearest property line of a site which is used for the purpose of a recreational park, place of worship, school, day care center, or other adult-oriented establishment. Measurement shall be made from the nearest recorded property line of the adult-oriented establishment to the nearest property line or boundary of the above-mentioned uses.

(4) Evaluation

For the purpose of enforcing the regulations of this action, it shall be the responsibility of the Planning Commission to evaluate and advise the Town of Walden Board of Mayor and Aldermen regarding compliance of a proposed adult-oriented establishment with the special restrictions set forth herein. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to supply site plans, maps, surveys or other such special information as might reasonably be required and requested by the Planning Commission staff for use in making a thorough evaluation of the proposal.

(5) Revocation and Hearing

Expansion, relocation, substantial misrepresentation, violation of any of the terms of this Ordinance or change in dominant sales items or services offered to the public or failure to operate the establishment in conformity with any terms and specifications set forth in the conditions attached to the Special Permit after notice and hearing. Notice of the hearing before the Board of Mayor and Aldermen for revocation of the permit shall be given in writing, setting forth the grounds of the complaint and the time and place of hearing. Such notice shall be mailed by certified mail to applicant's last known address at least five (5) days prior to the date set for hearing.

(6) Adult-Oriented Establishments - Unlawful Acts

It shall be unlawful for any person to own, manage or operate an adultoriented establishment in any zone other than the LM-1 Light Manufacturing District or to own, manage, or operate such an establishment without obtaining a Special Permit as hereinabove required.

(7) Enforcement

The provisions set forth in Article VII of this Ordinance, Section 7.03, 7.04, 7.05 are hereby adopted and become a part thereof as though specifically copied herein.

(g) Assisted Living Facilities in the C-1 General Commercial Zone

(See T.C.A. §13-24-104 for the exemption of residential homes operated on a non-commercial basis.)

Application to the board shall be accompanied by a site plan, drawn to scale, showing the following information:

- (1) Size and location, and use of all buildings and structures;
- (2) Parking and loading facilities;
- (3) Points of ingress and egress:
- (4) Surrounding land uses; and
- (5) A list showing:
 - a) Number of residents;
 - b) Number of employees, visitors and/or volunteers who may reasonably be expected at any one time;

- c) State licensure department (if applicable); and
- d) Type of license, requirements of license and nature of operation.

The board shall find that such uses are appropriate to the zone in which they are proposed to be located; that the proposed use will not conflict with the developed character of the area; that an engineer designated by the Town of Walden has approved all plans for the points of ingress and egress, parking and loading facilities; and that the proposed use will not be in conflict with the adopted plans of the community. Prior to operating any of the above uses, both the Special Permit and the state license (where applicable) must be obtained.

(h) Assisted Living Facilities in the A-1, E-1 and R-1 Zone

It is a requirement that the applicant for a Special Permit furnish a site plan with the application that depicts the proposed use of the property to include but not limited to site access, building configuration, building setback, proposed landscaping and drainage and a parking plan together with other information as determined by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

(See T.C.A. §13-24-104 for the exemption of residential homes operated on a non-commercial basis.)

(i) Public Utilities

A Special Permit may be granted for public utility uses, structures, and accessory facilities, including transmission lines, substations, railroad yards, lines and stations, bus loading or waiting platforms or buildings, dams, temporary work camps, or other governmental agency uses and buildings, temporary contractors camps, and buildings on public works projects and other similar public service uses and builds, radio and television broadcasting stations, and studios, on condition that location of building plans be approved by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen. It is a requirement that the applicant for a Special Permit furnish a site plan with the application that depicts the proposed use of the property to include but not limited to site access, building configuration, building setback, proposed landscaping and drainage and a parking plan together with other information as determined by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

(j) Townhouses in R-1

A Special Permit may be granted for townhouses in the R-1 Zone by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen. The intent of the regulations with this Special Permit is to limit development of townhouses in the R-1 Zone to parcels of land bordering Taft Highway. There shall be no access provided to the townhouse development off any street other than Taft Highway. It is the intent of this section to provide regulations for the development of townhouses (also called rowhouses and attached homes), singlefamily zero lotline dwellings (also called patio homes), and/or mixed use moderate density residential development in a manner which provides for efficient use of land, and is compatible with surrounding development. It is further intended that these regulations provide for standards which will foster compatibility between townhouse development and lower density, standard single-family uses. It is also intended that townhouse development be sold in "fee simple" to encourage owner occupancy. For purposes of the townhouse special permit, the term "exterior street" refers to any public, dedicated and accepted street existing prior to the townhouse development, the term "interior street' refers to any street built as part of the townhouse development, both sides of which are contained in the townhouse special permit area.

- (1) Height, Area and Building Regulations:
 - a) Maximum density shall not exceed two (2) units per acre for attached or detached dwelling units.
 - b) Minimum lot width for zero lot line or single-family detached units shall be thirty-five (35) feet. Minimum lot width for townhouse units shall be twenty-four (24) feet.
 - c) All buildings except detached single-family houses must be set back at least forty (40) feet from any exterior dedicated public street. The setback may be reduced to twenty-five (25) feet if the landscaping requirement in 8.01K(2) is provided along the exterior street(s). Detached single-family houses must be set back at least 25 feet from any exterior dedicated public street.
 - d) No building shall be located less than twenty-five (25) feet from any boundary of the townhouse special permit boundary.
 - e) Front setback from any interior street shall be fifteen (15) feet or ten (10) feet if rear parking and loading is provided.
 - f) Side yard setback for zero lot line units must be from zero (0) to one and one-half (1 1/2) feet, or a minimum of ten (10) feet from the adjacent property line if buildings are to be separated over a tenth of a foot. The eave overhang is the only permitted element of the building structure allowed in the one and one-half (1 1/2) feet setback. The opposite side yard must be at least ten (10) feet and must be kept perpetually free of permanent obstructions (such as accessory buildings).
 - g) For zero lot line units, no windows, doors, or other openings are permitted on the zero lot line side of the structure.
 - h) Detached single-family houses and two unit townhouses shall be separated by not less than forty (40) feet, except ten (10) feet from side to side.
 - Three or more unit town homes shall be separated by not less than forty
 (40) feet except fifteen (15) feet end to end or end to the side of other permitted housing types.
 - j) Maximum height of buildings shall be thirty-five (35) feet.
 - Sidewalks, if provided, are to be built according to jurisdictional standards.
 - All property lines abutting R-1 zoned property must provide a ten (10) feet deep (as measured towards the interior of the property) landscape yard along the shared property line planted with evergreen trees spaced a maximum of ten (10) feet on-center or two (2) staggered rows (spaced a maximum of seven feet apart) of shrubs spaced a maximum of eight (8) feet on-center.
 - m) Townhouse development which fronts on exterior public streets must

have front yards which are at least sixty-five (65) percentage grass/landscaping with any driveway and/or sidewalk to be composed of concrete or pavers. Landscaping along all property lines fronting exterior streets must be provided subject to review and approval of a site-specific landscape plan.

- n) A site plan (1 inch = 200 feet) shall be submitted with the special permit application and shall show the following:
 - 1) Special permit boundary.
 - 2) Site access and preliminary street layout.
 - 3) Type of off-street parking.
 - 4) Preliminary lot design.
 - 5) Range of lot sizes.
 - 6) Number of lots.
 - 7) Acreage.
 - 8) Open space/recreation areas if provided.
 - 9) All buffer, landscape and screen areas including site specific landscape design.

(2) Off-Street Parking Regulations

- a) Off-street parking shall be provided on the same lot or on a lot adjacent to the structure it serves at a rate of two (2) spaces per dwelling unit. Units with four bedrooms or more shall be required to have three (3) parking spaces.
- b) There shall be one (1) space for every three (3) seats in the main auditorium of churches and other public buildings.
- (3) Provision for Special Access and Utility Easements

Due to the special nature of these housing types, the Planning Commission and/or the Board of Mayor and Aldermen may insist on special access easements and other arrangements to provide for adequate servicing and maintenance of the structures even though such easements and provisions might not normally be specified in the Walden Subdivision Ordinance. These easements and special covenants are to be shown on the subdivision plat at the time of its recording. In addition, deed restrictions or other provisions may be required to assure that any remodeling or reconstruction of destroyed units will be accomplished in a fashion which will be compatible with the remaining units.

(k) Warehouses (mini or self-storage) in the LM-1 Light Manufacturing Zone.

It is a requirement that the applicant for a Special Permit furnish a site plan with the application that depicts the proposed use of the property to include but not limited to site access, building configuration, building setback, proposed landscaping and

drainage and a parking plan together with other information as determined by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

- (1) There shall be no outdoor storage of any kind.
- (2) The perimeter of the site shall have a ten (10) feet deep (as measure towards the interior of the property) landscape yard planted and maintained with:
 - a) Evergreen trees (see 2)a. below) spaced a maximum of ten (10) feet on- center and two (2) staggered rows (spaced a maximum of seven (7) feet apart) of shrubs (see 3)a. below) placed a maximum of eight (8) feet on- center.
 - b) The applicant shall meet the installation and planting size requirements specified below:
 - All landscaping material shall be installed in a professional manner, and according to accepted planting procedures specified in the Arboricultural Specifications Manual available from the Regional Planning Agency.
 - 2) Screening Trees: All screening trees shall be installed at a minimum height of five (5) to six (6) feet and have a minimum expected mature spread of eight (8) feet.
 - a. Recommended Species:

Common Name Scientific Name Atlas Cedar Cedrus atlantica Deodar Cedar Cedrus deodara Eastern Red Cedar Juniperus virginiana Leyland Cypress Cupressocyparis leylandii Carolina Hemlock Tsuga caroliniana Canadian Hemlock Tsuga canadensis American Holly llex opaca Foster Holly Ilex attenuata 'Fosteri' Southern Magnolia Magnolia grandiflora Loblolly Pine Pinus taeda Virginia Pine Pinus virginiana White Pine Pinus strobus

- 3) Screening Shrubs: All screening shrubs shall be installed at a minimum size of three (3) gallons and have an expected maturity height of at least eight (8) feet and a mature spread of at least five (5) feet.
 - a. Recommended Species

Common Name Scientific

<u>Name</u>

Burford Holly Ilex cornuta 'Burfordii'

English Holly Ilex aquifolium

Nellie R. Stevens Holly Ilex cornuta 'Nellie Stevens'

Cherrylaurel Prunus caroliniana
English Laurel Prunus laurocerasus
Fragrant Olive Eleagnus pungens
Leatherleaf Viburnum Viburnum rhytidophyllum

Wax Myrtle Myrica cerifera

4) Prohibited Plants: The following plants are prohibited from being used to meet these requirements due to problems with hardiness, maintenance, and nuisance:

Kudzu Vine Garlic Mustard Purple Loosestrife Paulownia Japanese Honeysuckle Multiflora Rose Shrub Honeysuckle Siberian Elm Autumn Olive Silver Poplar Common Privet Mimosa Tree of Heaven Mulberry Lespedeza Silver Maple

(I) Plumbing and electrical shops, radio and TV shops, appliance repair shops, and similar workshop type uses provided that not more than three (3) repair persons are employed within in the C-1 General Commercial Zone

The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may grant a Special Permit provided that the applicant furnishes satisfactory proof of convenience, necessity, and absences of harmful effect on surrounding property. It is a requirement that the applicant for a Special Permit furnish a site plan with the application that depicts the proposed use of the property to include but not limited to site access, building configuration, building setback, proposed landscaping and drainage and a parking plan together with other information as determined by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

(m) Liquor stores in the VC-1 Village Center Zone and C-1 General Commercial Zone

The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may grant a Special Permit as authorized by Section 57-3-208 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and Section 1, Title 8, of the Walden Municipal Code to allow a business to conduct the sale of Liquor. (Ord. 2004-241 1/11/05)

(n) Buildings or Structures with a gross floor area of all floors combined greater than 5,000 square feet in the C-1 General Commercial Zone or TC-MU Town Center Mixed Use Zone. Structures in the TC-MU Zone may not exceed 15,000 square feet of gross floor area of all floors combined. (Ord. 2024-364, 6/11/24)

The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may grant a Special Permit provided that the applicant furnishes satisfactory proof of convenience, necessity, absence of harmful effect on surrounding property, and consistency with the adopted Town of Walden Plan. It is a requirement that the applicant for a Special Permit furnish the following with their application for a Special Permit:

Survey of existing conditions on the property showing the following:
 5-foot elevation contours; natural drainage areas, streams, and

wetlands; existing structures; existing rights-of-way and easements of record; location of adjacent utilities; existing paved areas or roads; live specimen trees exceeding 12 inches in diameter at breast height; any features of the land that may impact development.

- Conceptual site plan showing the following:
 - Location, size, and dimensions of all existing and proposed building(s), including total square footage of each structure (all floors)
 - Property lines and building setback lines
 - Landscaped buffers when required by the Zoning Ordinance and/or Design Review Standards
 - Proposed streets, sidewalks, and right-of-ways
 - o Proposed open space areas
 - Approximate location of any proposed public amenities such as parks, squares or greenways
 - Approximate parking area and calculations
 - Vehicular and pedestrian points of ingress and egress
 - o Proposed septic field line area or wastewater infrastructure
 - Conceptual stormwater plan
- A narrative impact statement of the project providing details on the following:
 - Traffic impact
 - Environmental impact
 - o Economic viability of proposed commercial uses
 - Geotechnical impact
- Supporting documentation for the narrative impact statement

The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may grant a Special Permit from the maximum footprint size based on one or more of the following criteria:

- (1) The applicant presents an alternative that complies with the stated intent, goals, and general standards of the zone as defined in the Walden Zoning Ordinance and/or the Town of Walden Plan.
- (2) The proposed gross floor area is consistent with the adopted plans and principles for the area.
- (3) The proposed gross floor area is compatible with the character of the area

where it is proposed and with the size and location of the buildings in the vicinity.

The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may condition approval of the Special Permit as allowed in this section on one or more requirements reasonably necessary to achieve the intent, goals, and general standards of the Zoning Ordinance and Town of Walden Plan. If issued, the special permit shall be issued to the applicant and is non-transferrable until rights are vested under Tennessee state law. The permit shall allow only the specific plans presented to the Board of Mayor and Aldermen. Once rights are vested, significant alterations to the plans or a change in ownership shall require a new special permit to be applied for. A significant alteration to the plans shall include:

- (a) More than 5% change in land area being added or removed from the Site and Building Plan;
- (b) Change to the number of dwelling units;
- (c) Change in occupancy classification
- (d) An increase of more than 5% in the building area of any single nonresidential building, or an increase of more than 10% in the total building area of all non-residential buildings in the development
- **8.02 Granting Permits.** In granting the Special Permit, the Board of Mayor and Aldermen may, in addition to granting uses detailed in this Ordinance, allow exceptions in minimum site area (lot) requirements, and off-street parking requirements.

No building permits shall be issued until the Board of Mayor and Aldermen has approved the Special Use Permit.

No Special Permit shall be approved by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen unless it is first submitted to and approved by the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission or, if disapproved, shall receive a favorable vote of a majority of the entire membership of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

A Special Permit may be issued on condition that the location and method of operation be approved by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen, however, in all instances, the proposed facility must conform with all applicable State and Federal requirements or regulations.

8.03 Expiration. Any Special Permit shall expire twelve (12) months from and after its issuance if development as allowed by the Special Permit has not occurred.

Article 9. Board of Appeals for Variances

9.01 Creation and Membership of a Board of Appeals.

(a) The first Board of Appeals appointed shall serve terms of one (1), two (2), and three (3), four (4) and five (5) years respectively. Thereafter, terms shall be for five (5) years and vacancies shall be filled for the unexpired terms only. The Board of Mayor and Aldermen shall have power to remove any member or associate member of the Board of Appeals for cause, after a public hearing. (Ord. 2005-248, 8/9/05)

9.02 Meetings and Rules of the Board of Appeals.

- (a) The Board of Appeals shall designate one of its number Chairman, who shall call meetings of the Board of Appeals at such times and places within the Town as the Board of Appeals may determine. The Chairman may administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses.
- (b) The Chairman may, in the absence of a regular Board of Appeals member from a meeting, appoint one (1) of the associate members to temporarily fill the vacancy.
- (c) The Board of Appeals shall keep minutes of its proceedings and records of its examinations and other official actions, which shall be filed at the office of the Board of Appeals and constitute a public record.
- (d) The Board of Appeals may adopt its own rules of procedure not in conflict with this Ordinance.
- (e) In the performance of its duties, the Board of Appeals may employ administrative and consulting employees, and may incur such expenditures as shall be authorized by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

9.03 Power and Duties of the Board of Appeals.

- (a) Power to Grant Variance in Site and Area Regulations.
 - (1) The Board of Appeals shall have the power to grant variances and adjustments in the area and building site regulations of this Ordinance in cases where strict application of the regulations would result in practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship which is not attributable to the actions of the applicant or predecessors in title; but only in harmony with the spirit and intent of this Ordinance and in such a manner as to grant relief without substantial injury to the public interest and rights.
 - (2) No variation in the application of the provisions of this Ordinance or grant of a temporary permit shall be made unless after a public hearing, as provided for in this section, the Board of Appeals shall find that such variation will not:
 - a) Impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent property;
 - b) Increase the hazard from fire and other dangers to said property;
 - c) Diminish value of land and buildings throughout the surrounding area;
 - d) Increase the congestion or traffic hazards in the public streets or highway; and
 - e) Otherwise impair the public health, safety, comfort, morals, and general welfare of the inhabitants of the Town of Walden.

The Board of Appeals may impose such conditions as will lessen any injury to the character of the subject Zone.

- (b) **Non-Conforming Uses.** The Board of Appeals may order the issuance of Temporary Permits for nonconforming uses or for uses incidental to the development of the area provided that such Temporary Permit shall:
 - (1) Be granted for an initial period not to exceed one (1) year, and

(2) Be renewable at the direction of the Board of Appeals.

The Board of Appeals may require cash or performance bond renewable annually in favor of the Town of Walden effective in case such building or structure is not removed or remodeled to conform to the requirements of the Zone, within thirty (30) days from the date of notice of expiration of the permit. Such bond is to be in an amount as determined by a licensed professional architect or engineer registered in the State of Tennessee retained by the Town of Walden. The applicant shall pay any appraisal cost

(c) Remodeling of Non-Conforming Buildings. The Board of Appeals may allow reconstruction and remodeling of a non-conforming building where in judgment of the Board of Appeals based on plans and specifications submitted by an architect such reconstruction and remodeling will in the matter of front, side, and rear yards, structural integrity, and exterior appearance of said building make said non-conforming building safer and more healthful and bring it and its subsequent uses into fairer conformity with its surroundings.

9.04 Method of Appeal to the Board of Appeals.

- (a) Appeal from the decision of the Office of the Hamilton County Building and Zoning Director may be taken to the Board of Appeals whenever the applicant contends that the reasons for withholding a permit are inapplicable or unjust.
- (b) Similarly, the written and dated decision of the Office of the Hamilton County Building and Zoning Director granting and issuing a permit may be appealed to the Board of Appeals by any person, firm, or corporation aggrieved thereby; but such appeal shall not suspend nor supersede the issuance of the permit unless the appellant gives a bond, in an amount and with security satisfactory to the Board of Appeals, payable to the applicant for the permit, to cover all cost, damage, and expense that nay accrue to him/her in the event that the appeal is not successful.
- (c) An appeal from the decision of the Office of the Hamilton County Building and Zoning Director may not be taken until after fifteen (15) days, but shall be taken within thirty (30) days from the date the decision is appealed.

9.05 Application Through Town Recorder. Applications shall be made through the office of the Town Recorder. The application shall be accompanied by the following material or other information as requested:

- (a) Complete Plans and Descriptive Material to be Submitted. Complete site plan and description of the property involved and site plans of the proposed buildings and uses; and, where required by the Board of Appeals, building plans, and elevations, and information on methods of operations and forms of operation contracts, leases, and other legal instruments.
- (b) **Evidence Required**. Evidence which, in the opinion of the applicant, satisfies the requirement precedent to grants of variance placed on the Board of Appeals concerning practical difficulty, unnecessary hardship, special or temporary conditions, safeguards against injury to the public interest, and similar evidence shall be required to be submitted in support of an application for a variance.
- (c) Fees for Public Hearing Expense. A fee established by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen, subject to change by resolution of said board, due and payable at the time of application for grant shall be paid to the Town Recorder, as agent for the Board of Appeals, to cover the cost of notices and other expenses incidental to this appeal.
- (d) **Public Hearing Expense**. Upon receipt in proper form of any such appeal or application the Board of Appeals shall hold a public hearing, thereon, notice of which shall be given at least fifteen (15) days prior to date of such hearing by one publication

in a daily newspaper of general circulation throughout the Town of Walden and by personal service or by First Class Mail to the adjoining and other property owners within a radius of 100 yards of the property affected.

(e) Conditions on Approval of the Board of Appeals.

- (1) If the Board of Appeals finds that there are good and substantial reasons for issuance of the permit, and that the conditions and restrictions described in this Section have been satisfactorily met, it may grant the variance or permit requested and direct the issuance of a permit by affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of Appeals by the Town Recorder as approved.
- (2) In approving any variance or issuance of any permit under the provisions of this Section, the Board of Appeals may designate such conditions in connection therewith, as will, in its opinion secure substantially the objectives of the regulation or provision from which such variance is granted. Where necessary, the Board of Appeals may require appropriate guarantees to insure that the conditions designated in connection therewith are being or will be in compliance.
- (f) **Method of Appeal to Court**. Any person, firm, or corporation aggrieved by any decision of the Board of Appeals may present to a court of competent jurisdiction a petition duly verified setting forth that such decision is illegal, in whole or in part, specifying the grounds of the illegality. Such petition shall be presented to the court within thirty (30) days after filing of the decision in the office of the Board of Appeals. Such petitions shall not be filed with respect to the decisions of the Board of Appeals Official or any administrative officer, without recourse to the Board of Appeals.

(g) Final Action of the Court.

- (1) Upon the presentation of such petition, the Court may allow a writ of certiorari directed to the Board of Appeals to review such decisions of the Board of Appeals. The allowance of the writ shall not stay proceedings upon the decision appealed. The Board of Appeals shall be required to turn over to the court certified copies of all papers acted on by it, and any other information as may be pertinent and material to show the grounds of the appealed decision.
- (2) If upon the hearing, it shall appear to the court that testimony is necessary for the proper disposition of the matter, it may take evidence or appoint a referee to take evidence, which shall constitute a part of the proceedings upon which the determination of the court shall be made. The court may reverse or affirm wholly or partly, or may modify the decisions brought for review.
- (h) **Cost Not to be Charged to the Board of Appeals.** Cost shall not be allowed against the Board of Appeals unless it shall appear to the court that it acted with gross negligence or in bad faith or with malice in making the decision appealed.

Article 10. Interpretation and Amendments

- **10.01 Interpretation.** In interpreting and applying the provisions of this Ordinance, the Board of Mayor and Aldermen shall be held to the minimum requirements for the promotion of the public safety, health, convenience, comfort, property, or general welfare.
- **10.02 Initiation of Amendments.** The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may from time to time, after report thereon by the Planning Commission and after public hearings as required by law, amend, supplement, or change the number, shape, or boundaries of Zones, or any regulations or provisions of this Ordinance. An amendment, supplement, or change may be initiated by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen or recommended by the Planning Commission.
- **10.03 Public Hearing on Amendments.** Upon receipt of an application or proposal for change, the Planning Commission shall prepare a report on the proposed change, approving or disapproving the proposal or petition, or may specify conditions of approval or a recommended modification of the proposed change, with reason therefore; and submit it to the Board of Mayor and Aldermen. The Town shall there upon give notice of a public hearing to be held not less than fifteen (15) days from the date of the publication of the notice or such longer period of time, if any, as may be prescribed by the Tennessee Code Annotated. Such notice shall be by publication in a daily newspaper of general circulation throughout the Town of Walden. (Added 3/10/2020, Ord. 2020-0333)
- **10.04** Action of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen. After the official hearing by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen as described above, the Board of Mayor and Aldermen shall, by majority vote approve or disapprove the proposed amendment, or approve the amendment with modification. (Added 3/10/2020, Ord. 2020-0333)
- **10.05** Fees for Administrative Costs. The Board of Mayor and Aldermen is authorized to charge the petitioner an amount that is commensurate with the cost of processing the application. (Ord. 2024-364, 6/11/2024)
- **10.06 Procedures.** A petition, once heard and denied, shall not be accepted and heard again for the same area, or any part or combination including the same area, and the same or similar change of zoning, use or other change, for a period of twelve (12) months following the denial of this petition by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.
- **10.07** Incorporation of Amendment in the Language of this Ordinance. The phrase used in this Ordinance "at the time of passage of this Ordinance" shall in its application to land, and buildings, properties, and uses affected by an amendment to this Ordinance be read to mean "at the time of passage of this amendment."

Article 11. Validity and Severability

- **11.01 Conflicting Ordinances Revoked.** Any ordinance or parts of Ordinances previously adopted by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen, which are in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance to the extent that they are inconsistent with this Ordinance, are hereby revoked and declared null and void.
- **11.02 Severability.** Should any section, clause, or provision of this Ordinance be declared by the courts to be invalid the same shall not affect the validity of this Ordinance as a whole or any part thereof, other than the part so declared to be invalid.

Article 12. Hazardous Waste

12.01 Intent.

- (a) It is the purpose of this Article to establish reasonable regulation of all commercial hazardous waste management facilities and commercial medical waste facilities (as defined in this Ordinance) relative to appropriateness of location and method of operation in order to minimize the impact on the community adjacent to and surrounding such uses and to assure and maintain the public safety and general welfare.
- (b) This basic purpose can and should be achieved without precluding or discouraging the following objectives:
 - (1) encourage innovation and the use of new technologies for waste minimization, storage and disposal;
 - (2) increase collaborative activities among area industries which have common environmental concerns; and
 - (3) facilitate access to international markets for products and technologies related to the environment while at the same time giving due concern for the environment, health and safety of the citizens of the Town of Walden.
- (c) It is the further intent of the Town of Walden to encourage the recycling, reclamation, and reuse of materials so as to remove such materials from the solid and hazardous waste stream. To this end, the Town of Walden encourages the state and federal governments to revise their rules and regulations to encourage such recycling, reclamation and reuse, after which the Town of Walden shall consider similar revisions.
- **12.02 Definitions.** The following words and phrases, as used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section:
 - (a) Commercial Hazardous Waste Management Facility: any hazardous waste management facility proposed for a new site, or through a change of operations at an existing site within this jurisdiction that stores, treats (including incineration), or disposes of hazardous waste, of which, more than ten (10) percent by volume was generated off-site during either six-month period January 1 through June 30 or July 1 through December 31 in any calendar year, with the percentage to be the percent of the amount generated off-site at the receiving facility during the corresponding time period of the preceding calendar year.
 - (b) **Generate**: the act or process of producing hazardous wastes or medical wastes.
 - (c) **Off-Site**: any property that is not classified as on-site by these regulations.
 - (d) On-Site: on the site of generation. "On-site" further means the same or geographically contiguous property which may be divided by public or private right(s)-of-way. Noncontiguous property owned by the hazardous waste generator that is connected by a right-of-way which such hazardous waste generator controls and to which the public does not have access is also considered on-site property.
 - (e) Hazardous Waste: a solid waste, or combination of solid wastes, which because of its quantity, concentration, or physical chemical, or infectious characteristics may
 - (1) cause, or significantly contribute to an increase in mortality or an increase in serious irreversible, or incapacitating reversible, illness; or
 - (2) pose a substantial present or potential hazard to human health or the

environment when improperly treated, stored, transported, or disposed of, or otherwise managed.

(f) Commercial Medical Waste Management Facility: any medical waste management facility proposed for a new site or through a change of operations at an existing site within this jurisdiction used for treatment (including incineration), storage or disposal of any medical waste generated off-site, except that a facility that receives medical waste that is generated only at a site or sites owned or operated by the same corporation, or subsidiaries of such corporation, or sites under contract to such corporation for medical wastes generated by the corporation shall not be deemed to be a commercial medical waste management facility provided that the volume of medical waste received from such sites and placed in storage for more than one calendar month does not exceed twenty-five

(25) percent of the storage capacity at the designated accumulation area of the facility, referred to at the definition of "storage" in Title 40 CFR 259.10(a), Revised as of July 1, 1991, regarding Standards for the Tracking and Management of Medical Waste, and identified as required in Article 12, Section

12.02 of this Ordinance, and provided that during no calendar month may more than twenty-five (25) percent of the total medical waste treated or disposed at the facility be from such sites, and the facility shall maintain records available for public inspection for two (2) years to demonstrate compliance.

- (g) Medical Waste: solid or liquid wastes which contain pathogens with sufficient virulence and quantity such that exposure to the waste by a susceptible host could result in an infectious disease. All of the following types of wastes shall be considered to be medical wastes for the purposes of these regulations:
 - (1) Biological wastes and discarded materials contaminated with blood, excretion, exudates, or secretions from patients who are isolated to protect others from certain highly communicable diseases, or isolated animals known to be infected with highly communicable diseases;
 - (2) Cultures and stocks of infectious agents and associated biologicals, including cultures from medical and pathological laboratories, cultures and stocks of infectious agents from research and industrial laboratories, wastes from the production of biologicals, discarded live and attenuated vaccines, and culture dishes and devices used to transfer, inoculate, and mix cultures;
 - (3) Human pathological wastes, including tissues, organs, and body parts and body fluids that are removed during surgery or autopsy, or other medical procedures, and specimens of body fluids and their containers:
 - (4) Liquid waste human blood; products of blood; items saturated and/or dripping with human blood; or items that were saturated and/or dripping with human blood that are now caked with dried human blood; including serum, plasma, and other blood components, and their containers, which were used or intended for use in either patient care, testing and laboratory analysis or the development of pharmaceuticals; and intravenous bags;
 - (5) Sharps that have been used in animal or human patient care or treatment or in medical, research, or industrial laboratories, including hypodermic needles, syringes (with or without the attached needle), pasteur pipettes, scalpel blades, blood vials, needles with attached tubing, and culture dishes (regardless of presence of infectious agents). Also included are other types of broken or unbroken

- glassware that were in contact with infectious agents, such as used slides and cover slips:
- (6) Contaminated animal carcasses, body parts, and bedding of animals that were known to have been exposed to infectious agents during research (including research in veterinary hospitals), production of biologicals or testing of pharmaceuticals; and
- (7) The following unused, discarded sharps: hypodermic needles, suture needles, syringes, and scalpel blades.
- (h) Storage: holding hazardous waste or medical waste for a period of more than ninety (90) days, at the end of which the hazardous waste or medical waste is treated, disposed of, or stored elsewhere. A commercial hazardous waste management facility or a commercial medical waste management facility shall not be subject to the ninety (90) days restriction for the purposes of this definition and these zoning regulations if it either:
 - (1) Generates more than 100 kilograms and less than 1000 kilograms of hazardous waste or medical waste in a calendar month; and the quantity of waste accumulated on-site never exceeds 6000 kilograms; and the facility has complied with all other applicable provisions of 40 CFR 262.34(d), in which case accumulation on-site would constitute "storage" after 180 days.
 - (2) If such a facility must transport its hazardous waste or medical waste or offer them for transportation over a distance of 200 miles or more for off- site treatment, storage or disposal, then accumulation on-site would constitute "storage" after 270 days; or
 - (3) Generates less than 100 kilograms of hazardous waste or medical waste in a calendar month; and generates one (1) kilogram or less of acute hazardous wastes listed in 40 CFR 261.31, 261.32, or 261.33(e); and generates 100 kilograms or less of any residue or contaminated soil, waste, or other debris resulting from the cleanup of a spill, into or on any land or water, of any acute hazardous wastes listed in 40 CFR 261.31, 261.32, or 261.33(e); and the quantity of hazardous or medical waste accumulated on-site never exceeds 1000 kilograms; and the facility has complied with all other applicable provisions of 40 CFR 261.5, in which case accumulation on-site could continue indefinitely at a facility that is not otherwise a "commercial hazardous waste facility" or a "commercial medical waste facility" for the purposes of these zoning regulations.
- (i) Construction: in general, initiation of physical on-site construction activities on a management unit which are of a permanent nature. Such activities include, but are not limited to, installation of building supports and foundations, laying of underground pipe work, and construction of permanent storage structures. With respect to a change in the method of operation this term refers to those on-site activities, other than preparation activities, which mark the initiation of the change.
- (j) 100-Year Floodplain: any land area which is subject to a one percent or greater chance of flooding in any given year from any source as defined in 44 Code of Federal Regulations Part 67, Final Flood Elevation Determinations and as effective on the date of issuance of the Flood Insurance Rate Map showing the 100-year flood elevations for the community.
- (k) 500-Year Floodplain: any land area which is subject to a two tenths chance in one hundred (one chance in five hundred) of being flooded in any one-year period as shown on the Flood Insurance Rate Map or the Flood Hazard Boundary Map.

- (I) Flood Hazard Boundary Map: an official map of a community, issued by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), where the boundaries of the areas of special flood hazard have been designated.
- (m) Flood Insurance Rate Map: an official map of a community, on which the Federal Insurance Administration of the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) has delineated both the areas of special flood hazard and the risk premium zones applicable to the community.
- (n) **Bedrock**: the solid rock underlying unconsolidated surface material such as soil.
- (o) Fault: a fracture along which strata on one side have been displaced with respect to that on the other, as shown on the East Central Sheet, Geologic Map of Tennessee, 1966, William D. Hardeman, State Geologist, compiled and edited by George D. Swingle, Robert A. Miller, Edward T. Luther, William D. Hardeman, Donald S. Fullerton, C. Ronald Sykes, and R. Keith Garman.
- (p) **Thrust Fault**: a reverse fault in which the dip of the fault plane is at a low angle to horizontal and in which the hanging wall block (or upper plate) may have overridden the footwall block (or lower plate).
- (q) **Hanging Wall Block**: the overlying surface of an inclined fault plane.
- (r) **Footwall Block**: the underlying surface of an inclined fault plane.
- (s) **Sinkhole**: a hollow in a limestone region in which drainage collects that communicates with a cavern or passage.
- (t) **Private Water Supply**: all water supplies that are not public water supplies and which are primary drinking water sources.
- (u) Public Water Supply: a system that supplies to the public piped water for human consumption, if such system has at least 15 service connections or regularly serves an average of at least 25 individuals daily at least 60 days of the year.
- (v) Scenic, Cultural or Recreational Area: parks, forests, recreational areas, natural areas, museums, and wildlife management areas owned and/or operated by the Federal, State, and or local government (or agencies created by such government); sites included on the National Register of Historic Places established by the United States Department of Interior or forwarded for consideration for National Register listing to the United States Department of Interior by the Tennessee State Historical Commission State Review Board.
- (w) Unit: a contiguous area of land on or in which hazardous or medical waste is placed, or the largest area in which there is significant likelihood of mixing hazardous waste constituents in the same area. Examples of waste management units include a surface impoundment, a waste pile, a land treatment area, a landfill cell, an incinerator, a tank and its associated piping and underlying containment system, and a container storage area. A container alone does not constitute a unit; the unit includes containers and the land or pad upon which they are placed.
- (x) Land-Based Unit: a unit subject to regulations promulgated by the Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation Division of Solid Waste including surface impoundments, landfills, waste piles, land treatment units, and hazardous waste management units. Units exempt from groundwater monitoring correction requirements under regulations promulgated by the Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation Division of Solid Waste and covered indoor waste piles in compliance with regulations promulgated by the Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation Division of Solid Waste are considered non-land-based units.
- (y) **Non-Land-Based Unit**: an incinerator, tank and its associated piping and underlying containment system, or container storage area, hazardous waste

management units and other similar units that are not subject to regulations for land-based units promulgated by the Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation Division of Solid Waste.

- (z) **Unstable Area**: a location that is susceptible to natural or human-induced events or forces capable of impairing the integrity of a commercial hazardous waste or medical waste treatment or storage facility's structural components responsible for preventing releases, including:
 - (1) subsidence prone areas (i.e., areas subject to the lowering or collapse of the land surface either locally or over broad regional areas);
 - (2) areas susceptible to mass movement (i.e., where the downslope movement of soil and rock under gravitational influence occurs); and
 - (3) areas with weak and unstable soils (e.g., soils that lose their ability to support foundations as a result of expansion or shrinkage).
- (aa) Wetlands: lands which have hydric soils and a dominance (fifty [fifty] percent or more of stem count based on communities) of obligate hydrophytes. They include the following generic types:
 - (1) Fresh water meadows;
 - (2) Shallow fresh water marshes;
 - (3) Shrub swamps with semi-permanent water regimes most of the year;
 - (4) Wooded swamps or forested wetlands;
 - (5) Open fresh water except farm ponds; and
 - (6) Bogs.

12.03 Identification of Storage Areas. A new or rebuilt facility, or an expanded portion of an existing facility, or any facility which changes its operations, proposed for use as a "commercial medical waste management facility", as defined in these zoning regulations notwithstanding the exclusions within the definition, shall be required, in both its building permit application prior to construction or reconstruction and in any required installation permit at the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Air Pollution Control Bureau, to identify in writing on its building and operating plans any and all portions of the proposed facility or portion of an existing facility through a change in operations or expanded portion of an existing facility proposed for "storage", as defined in these zoning regulations notwithstanding the exclusions within the definition. Such identification of storage areas shall include the total cubic footage designated for accumulation of medical wastes at the "commercial medical waste management facility", as defined in these zoning regulations notwithstanding the exclusions within the definition.

12.04 Prohibited Uses.

- (a) No commercial hazardous waste management facility or commercial medical waste management facility unit shall be allowed to be constructed within any 500-year floodplain identified on a Flood Hazard Boundary Map or a Flood Insurance Rate Map. This restriction shall also apply to any facility that meets the definition of "commercial hazardous waste management facility" or "commercial medical waste management facility" through a change in operations that does not involve constructing or reconstructing a building, so that such facility may not operate a commercial hazardous waste management facility or a commercial medical waste management facility within any 500-year floodplain identified on a Flood Hazard Boundary Map or a Flood Insurance Rate Map.
- (b) Any construction, alteration, repair, reconstruction, or improvement to a commercial hazardous waste management facility or commercial medical waste management facility on which the start of construction was begun after the effective date of these regulations shall meet all applicable requirements

- for new construction as contained in these regulations, except as provided in the next sentence.
- (c) Any commercial hazardous waste management facility unit or commercial medical waste management facility unit in existence prior to the effective date of this requirement that is hereafter damaged by any means to an extent of more than fifty (fifty) percent of its assessed value may be reconstructed and used as before only if it is rebuilt in a manner that complies with all requirements in effect on the date the rebuilding commences and operates in that rebuilt portion of the unit in a manner that complies with all requirements in effect on the date that operation commences in the rebuilt commercial hazardous waste management facility unit or commercial medical waste management facility unit. In addition, the following requirements must be met:
 - (1) The reconstruction must not exceed the volume and external dimensions of the original structure or offer any greater obstruction to the flow of flood waters within the 500-year floodplain than did the original structure; and
 - (2) The lowest floor elevation (including basement) must be above the level of the 500-year floodplain or the structure must be floodproofed to a height above the level of the 500-year floodplain. Floodproofing measures shall be in accordance with the watertight performance standards of the publication Flood-Proofed Regulations prepared by the Office of the Chief of U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Washington, D.C. dated March 31, 1992, which is hereby incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein; and
 - (3) The reconstruction must commence within twelve (12) months after the damage first occurs, and the reconstruction must be completed within twenty-four (24) months after the damage first occurs. In the event of fire, flood, labor dispute, epidemic, abnormal weather conditions or acts of God, the reconstruction commencement time period and/or the reconstruction completion period will be extended in an amount equal to time lost due to delays beyond the control of the owner or operator of the facility subject to this requirement.
- (d) These requirements also apply to any commercial hazardous waste management or commercial medical waste management facility unit in existence prior to the effective date of these regulations that proposes to expand after the effective date of these regulations to the expanded portion of the facility. These requirements also apply to any commercial hazardous waste management or commercial medical waste management facility unit which is built subsequent to the adoption of these zoning regulations and thereafter damaged by any means to an extent of more than fifty (50) percent of its assessed value.
- (e) These requirements also apply to any facility that meets the definition of "commercial hazardous waste management facility" or "commercial medical waste management facility" through a change in operations that does not involve constructing or reconstructing a building, which is thereafter damaged by any means to an extent of more than fifty (fifty) percent of its assessed value.

12.05 Proximity of Commercial Hazardous Waste or Commercial Medical Waste Management Facilities to Other Uses:

(a) All distances are to be measured from the "unit" as defined in this zoning ordinance to the nearest point of the property boundary line of the other land use.

- (b) Groundwater and Public Drinking Water Supplies.
 - (1) No commercial hazardous waste or commercial medical waste management facility unit shall be located within 2000 feet horizontally of a public drinking water supply well or public water supply intake point in a river, spring, lake, pond or reservoir, or within 1000 feet horizontally of a private drinking water supply well or private water supply intake point in a river, spring, lake, pond or reservoir.
 - (2) A commercial hazardous waste or commercial medical waste management facility unit shall not be constructed on a wetland or a sinkhole, nor drain into a sinkhole or into a wetland, and shall comply with all requirements necessary to obtain a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit.
 - (3) No commercial hazardous waste or commercial medical waste management facility unit shall be located within an area where the depth to the seasonally high water table in the uppermost saturated zone will rise to within five (5) feet of the ground surface.
 - (4) No commercial hazardous waste or commercial medical waste management facility unit at which hazardous or medical wastes are stored or treated below ground (e.g. underground tank, surface impoundment) shall be located or constructed in such a manner that the bottom of the liner system or secondary containment system is closer than ten (10) feet from the uppermost saturation area.
 - (5) Vertical Buffer Zones.
 - a) Commercial hazardous waste or commercial medical waste management facility land-based units shall be located and constructed such that there is, between the bottom of the unit's liner system and the seasonably high groundwater elevation in the uppermost saturated zone underlying the unit, a buffer layer of natural and/or emplaced soil meeting one of the following descriptions:
 - 1) Ten (10) feet thick, with a saturated hydraulic conductivity of 1 x 10-5 centimeters/second, or
 - 2) Five (5) feet thick, with a saturated hydraulic conductivity of 1 x 10-6 centimeters/second.
 - b) Commercial hazardous waste or commercial medical waste management facility non-land-based units shall be located and constructed such that there is, between the bottom of the unit's secondary containment system and the seasonably high water elevation in the uppermost saturated zone underlying the unit, a buffer layer of natural and/or emplaced soil meeting one of the following descriptions:
 - Four feet thick, with a saturated hydraulic conductivity of 1 x 10-5 centimeters/ second, or
 - 2) Two feet thick, with a saturated hydraulic conductivity of 1 x 10-6 centimeters/ second, or
 - 3) A buffer layer of other material, mechanically separate from the secondary containment system which will provide protection to fluid movement equivalent or superior to (e) 2)a) or b).
 - c) Hydraulic conductivity measurements are to be measured by the ASTM D5084 soil permeability test.

- d) No commercial hazardous waste or commercial medical waste management facility unit or on-site access road to it shall be located within an area on the hanging wall block of a thrust fault line such that a vertical line as determined by a plumb line drilled by core drill to a depth of two hundred (200) feet will intersect a fault plane.
- (c) County Septic Tank Pumper Permanent Dumping Sites.

No commercial hazardous waste or commercial medical waste management facility unit shall be located within 1000 feet of any septic tank pumper permanent dumping site authorized by the Hamilton County Health Department Rules and Regulations governing subsurface sewage disposal, including open-air disposal of septic tank effluent through land absorption.

(d) Scenic, Cultural and Recreational Areas.

No commercial hazardous waste or commercial medical waste management facility unit shall be located within, or within 500 feet of, a scenic, cultural or recreational area in existence on the date a completed building permit application is submitted.

(e) Structures

To minimize incompatibility with the character of the surrounding area and to minimize the effect on the value of surrounding areas, the following minimum separation distances shall be required of any commercial hazardous waste or commercial medical waste management facility unit:

- (1) It shall not be located within 2000 feet of existing schools, hospitals, or day care centers, residences or residential zones.
- (2) It shall not be located within 200 feet of any commercial buildings, other than those which are part of the facility.
- (3) It shall not be located within 1000 feet of existing churches and non-commercial buildings, other than those which are part of the facility.
- (4) A commercial hazardous waste management facility or commercial medical waste management facility unit shall not be located within 200 feet of the facility's property boundaries.
- (5) It shall not be located within 2000 feet of an existing commercial hazardous waste management facility or commercial medical waste management facility unit or site specifically designated as a superfund site by either state or federal regulations, provided this restriction does not apply to a site which is temporarily used to ameliorate an adjacent site.
- (6) Except for the purposes of Structures (e)(4), distance measurements shall be from the nearest point in a property line of a parcel containing the non-hazardous or non-medical waste management facility use to the nearest point of the "unit" as defined in this zoning ordinance.
- (f) Unstable Areas

No commercial hazardous or medical waste management facility unit shall be located or constructed in an unstable area.

12.06 Exceptions.

- (a) The following solid wastes are not hazardous wastes:
 - (1) Household waste, including household waste that has been collected, transported, stored, treated, disposed, recovered (e.g., refuse-derived fuel) or reused. "Household waste" means any material (including garbage, trash and sanitary wastes in septic tanks) derived from households (including single and multiple residences, hotels and

motels, bunkhouses, ranger stations, crew quarters, campgrounds, picnic grounds and day-use recreation areas). A resource recovery facility managing municipal solid waste shall not be deemed to be treating, storing, disposing of, or otherwise managing hazardous wastes for the purposes of regulation under this definition, if such facility:

- a) Receives and burns only
 - Household waste (from single and multiple dwellings, hotels, motels, and other residential sources); and
 - 2) Solid waste from commercial or industrial sources that does not contain hazardous waste; and
 - 3) Such facility does not accept hazardous wastes and the owner or operator of such facility has established contractual requirements or other appropriate notification or inspection procedures to assure that hazardous wastes are not received at or burned in such facility.
- (2) Solid wastes generated by any of the following and which are returned to the soils as fertilizers:
 - a) The growing and harvesting of agricultural crops.
 - b) The raising of animals, including animal manures.
- (3) Mining overburden returned to the mine site.
- (4) Fly ash waste, bottom ash waste, slag waste, and flue gas emission control waste, generated primarily from the combustion of coal or other fossil fuels, except as provided by 40 Code of Federal Regulations
 - 266.112 for facilities that burn or process hazardous waste.
- (5) Drilling fluids, produced waters, and other wastes associated with the exploration, development or production of crude oil, natural gas or geothermal energy.
- (6) Wastes which fail the test for the Toxicity Characteristic because chromium is present or are listed in Title 40 Code of Federal Regulations Part 261, subpart D due to the presence of chromium which do not fail the test for the Toxicity Characteristic for any other constituent or are not listed due to the presence of any other constituent, and which do not fail the test for any other characteristic, if it is shown by a waste generator or by waste generators that:
 - a) The chromium in the waste is exclusively (or nearly exclusively) trivalent chromium; and
 - b) The waste is generated from an industrial process which uses trivalent chromium exclusively (or nearly exclusively) and the process does not generate hexavalent chromium; and
 - c) The waste is typically and frequently managed in non-oxidizing environments.
- (7) Specific wastes which meet the standard in Section 12.06 (6)(a-c) (so long as they do not fail the test for Toxicity Characteristic, and do not fail the test for any other characteristic) are:
 - a) Chrome (blue) trimmings generated by the following subcategories of the leather tanning and finishing industry; hair pulp/chrome tan/retan/wet finish; hair save/chrome tan/retan/wet finish; retain/wet finish; no beamhouse; through-

- the-blue; and shearing.
- b) Chrome (blue) shavings generated by the following subcategories of the leather tanning and finishing industry: Hair pulp/chrome tan/retan/wet finish; hair save/chrome tan/retan/wet finish; retan/wet finish; no beamhouse; throughthe-blue; and shearing.
- c) Buffing dust generated by the following subcategories of the leather tanning and finishing industry: hair pulp/chrome tan/retan/wet finish; hair save/chrome tan/retan/wet finish; no beamhouse; through-the-blue.
- d) Sewer screenings generated by the following subcategories of the leather tanning and finishing industry: Hair pulp/chrome tan/retan/wet finish; hair save/chrome tan/retan/wet finish; retan/wet finish; no beamhouse; through-the-blue; and shearing.
- e) Waste water treatment sludges generated by the following subcategories of the leather tanning and finishing industry: Hair pulp/chrome tan/ retan/wet finish; hair save/chrome tan/retan/wet finish; retan/wet finish; no beamhouse; throughthe-blue; and shearing.
- f) Waste water treatment sludges generated by the following subcategories of the leather tanning and finishing industry: Hair pulp/chrome tan/retan/wet finish; hair save/chrometan/retan/wet finish; and through-the blue.
- g) Waste scrap leather from the leather tanning industry, the shoe manufacturing industry, and other leather product manufacturing industries.
- h) Waste water treatment sludges from the production of TiO2 pigment using chromium-bearing ores by the chloride process.
- (8)Solid waste from the extraction, beneficiation, and processing of ores and minerals (including coal, phosphate rock and overburden from the mining of uranium ore), except as provided by 40 Code of Federal Regulations 266.112 for facilities that burn or process hazardous waste. For purposes of 40 CFR 261.4(b)(7), beneficiation of ores and minerals is restricted to the following activities: Crushing; grinding; washing; dissolution; crystallization; filtration; sorting; sizing; drying; sintering; pelletizing; briquetting; calcining to remove water and/or carbon dioxide; roasting, autoclaving, and/or chlorination in preparation for leaching (except where the roasting (and/or autoclaving) and/or chlorination)/leaching sequence produces a final or intermediate product that does not undergo further beneficiation or processing); gravity concentration; magnetic separation; electrostatic separation; flotation; ton exchange; solvent extraction; electrowinning; precipitation; amalgamation; and heap, dump, vat, tank, and in situ leaching. For the purpose of 40 CFR 261.4(b)(7), solid waste from the processing of ores and minerals includes only the following wastes:
 - a) Slag from primary copper processing;
 - b) Slag from primary lead processing;
 - c) Red and brown muds from bauxite refining;
 - d) Phosphogypsum from phosphoric acid production;
 - e) Slag from elemental phosphorus production;

- f) Gasifier ash from coal gasification;
- g) Process wastewater from coal gasification;
- h) Calcium sulfate wastewater treatment plant sludge from primary copper processing;
- i) Slag tailings from primary copper processing;
- j) Fluorogypsym from hydrofluoric acid production;
- k) Process wastewater from hydrofluoric acid production;
- I) Air pollution control dust/sludge from iron blast furnaces;
- m) Iron blast furnace slag;
- n) Treated residue from roasting/leaching of chrome ore;
- o) Process wastewater from primary magnesium processing by anhydrous process;
- p) Process wastewater from phosphoric acid production;
- q) Basic oxygen furnace and open hearth furnace air pollution control dust/sludge from carbon steel production;
- r) Basic oxygen furnace and open hearth furnace slag from carbon steel production;
- s) Chloride process waste solids from titanium tetrachloride production;
- t) Slag from primary zinc processing.
- (9) Cement kiln dust waste, except as provided by 40 CFR 266.112 for facilities that burn or process hazardous waste.
- (10) Solid waste which consists of discarded wood or wood products which fails the test for the Toxicity Characteristic solely for arsenic and which is not a hazardous waste for any other reason or reasons, if the waste is generated by persons who utilize the arsenical-treated wood and wood products for these materials' intended end use.
- (11) Petroleum-contaminated media and debris that fail the test for the Toxicity Characteristic of 40 CFR 261.24 (Hazardous Waste Codes D018 through D042 only) and are subject to the corrective action regulations under 40 CFR 280.
- (12) Injected groundwater that is hazardous only because it exhibits the Toxicity Characteristic (Hazardous Waste Codes D018 through D043 only) in 40 CFR 261.24 that is re-injected through an underground injection well pursuant to free phase hydrocarbon recovery operations undertaken at petroleum refineries, petroleum marketing terminals, petroleum bulk plants, petroleum pipelines, and petroleum transportation spill sites until January 25, 1993. This extension applies to recovery operations in existence, or for which contracts have been issued, on or before March 25, 1991. For groundwater returned through infiltration galleries from such operations at petroleum refineries, marketing terminals, and bulk plants, until January 1, 1993. New operations involving injection wells (beginning after March 25, 1991) will qualify for this compliance date extension (until January 25, 1993) only if:
 - a) Operations are performed pursuant to a written state agreement that includes a provision to assess the groundwater and the need for further remediation once the free phase recovery is completed; and
 - b) A copy of the written agreement has been submitted to: Characteristics Section (OS-333), U.S. Environmental

Protection Agency, 401 M Stret, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20460.

- (13) Used chlorofluorocarbon refrigerants from totally enclosed heat transfer equipment, including mobile air conditioning systems, mobile refrigeration, and commercial and industrial air conditioning and refrigeration systems that use chlorofluorocarbons as the heat transfer fluid in a refrigeration cycle, provided the refrigerant is reclaimed for further use.
- (14) Used oil that exhibits one or more of the characteristics of hazardous waste but is recycled in some other manner than being burned for energy recovery.
- (15) Any waste from any facility sited within Hamilton County, which waste is excluded from Title 40 Code of Federal Regulations Part 261.3 or the lists of hazardous wastes in Title 40 Code of Federal Regulations Part 261, Subpart D, by the United States Environmental Protection Agency pursuant to Title 40 Code of Federal Regulations Part 260.20 or Part 260.22 and published in either the Federal Register or in Title 40 Code of Federal Regulations Part 261, Appendix IX, or in both.
- (b) For purposes of this definition and these zoning regulations, "solid waste" means any garbage, refuse, sludge from a waste treatment plant, water supply treatment plant, or air pollution control facility and other discarded material, including solid, liquid, semisolid, or contained gaseous material resulting from industrial, commercial, mining, and agricultural operations, and from community activities, but does not include solid or dissolved material in domestic sewage, or solid or dissolved materials in irrigation return flows or industrial discharges which are point sources subject to permits under section 33 U.S.C. 1342, or source, special nuclear, or byproduct material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended (68 Stat. 923)[42 U.S.C.A. Section 2011 et. seq.].
- (c) The following materials are not solid wastes for the purpose of this definition:
 - (1) Domestic sewage and any mixture of domestic sewage and other wastes that passes through a sewer system to a publicly-owned treatment works for treatment. "Domestic sewage" means untreated sanitary wastes that pass through a sewer system.
 - (2) Industrial wastewater discharges that are point source discharges subject to regulation under section 402 of the Clean Water Act, as amended. This exclusion applies only to the actual point source discharge. It does not exclude industrial waste waters while they are being collected, stored or treated before discharge, nor does it exclude sludges that are generated by industrial wastewater treatment.
 - (3) Irrigation return flows.
 - (4) Source, special nuclear or byproduct material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 2011 et.seq.
 - (5) Materials subjected to in-situ mining techniques which are not removed from the ground as part of the extraction process.
 - (6) Pulping liquors (i.e. black liquor) that are reclaimed in a pulping liquor recovery furnace and then reused in the pulping process, unless it is accumulated speculatively as defined in 40 Code of Federal Regulations 261.1c.
 - (7) Spent sulfuric acid used to produce virgin sulfuric acid, unless it is accumulated speculatively as defined in 40 Code of Federal Regulations 261.1c.

- (8) Secondary materials that are reclaimed and returned to the original process or processes in which they were generated where they are reused in the production process provided:
 - a) Only tank storage is involved, and the entire process through completion of reclamation is closed by being entirely connected with pipes or other comparable enclosed means of conveyance;
 - b) Reclamation does not involve controlled flame combustion (such as occurs in boilers, industrial furnaces, or incinerators);
 - c) The secondary materials are never accumulated in such tanks for over twelve (12) months without being reclaimed; and
 - d) The reclaimed material is not used to produce a fuel, or used to produce products that are used in a manner constituting disposal.
- (9) Spent wood preserving solutions that have been reclaimed and are reused for their original intended purpose; and waste waters from the wood preserving process that have been reclaimed and are reused to treat wood.
- (10) When used as a fuel, coke and coal tar from the iron and steel industry that contains or is produced from decanter tank tar sludge, EPA Hazardous Waste K087. The process of producing coke and coal tar from such decanter tank tar sludge in a coke oven is likewise excluded from regulation.
- (11) Materials that are reclaimed from solid waste and that are used beneficially are not solid wastes and hence are not hazardous waste unless the reclaimed material is burned for energy recovery or used in a manner constituting disposal.
- (d) A facility that reclaims materials that are used beneficially as provided in Section 105 C(11) from solid waste it created is not a commercial hazardous waste management facility for the purpose of this Ordinance, unless that facility also stores or disposes of hazardous waste of which more than twenty-five percent (25%) by volume was generated off-site during either six-month period January 1 through June 30 or July 1 through December 31 in any calendar year, with the percentage to be the percent of the amount generated on-site at the receiving facility during the corresponding time period of the preceding calendar year.
- **12.07 Zoning Requirements.** Commercial Hazardous Management Facilities and Commercial Medical Waste Management Facilities shall be permitted only in the LM-1 Light Manufacturing Zone subject to the requirements of the LM-1 Light Manufacturing Zone and the provisions of Article 12.
- **12.08 Building Permit Application Requirements.** Application for a building permit shall be accompanied by a site plan indicating method and hours of operation, building and structure location and function, extent and nature of all screening and buffer areas, type and volume of waste materials, proximity to waterways and drainage characteristics, location and type of surrounding land use. The chief building official, if required, shall submit additional information, upon request.
- **12.09 Severability.** If any provision of these zoning regulations or the application thereof to any person or circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of these zoning regulations which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to that end the provisions of these zoning regulations are declared to be severable.

Article 13. Effective Date

13.01 Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective from the date of passage by the Town of Walden Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

ARTICLE 14. SIGN REGULATIONS (Ord. No. 2020-334; 11/10/2020)

14.01. Findings, purpose and intent; interpretation.

- (a) Signs obstruct views, distract motorists, displace alternative uses for land, and pose other problems that legitimately call for regulation. The purpose of this article is to regulate the size, color, illumination, movement, materials, location, height and condition of all signs placed on private property for exterior observation, thus ensuring the protection of property values, the character of the various neighborhoods, the creation of a convenient, attractive and harmonious community, protection against destruction of or encroachment on historic convenience to citizens and encouraging economic development. This article allows adequate communication through signage while encouraging aesthetic quality in the design, location, size and purpose of all signs. This article must be interpreted in a manner consistent with the guarantee of free speech in the state and federal constitutions. If any provision of this article is found by a court of competent jurisdicti on to be invalid, such finding must not affect the validity of other provisions of this article which can be given effect without the invalid provision.
- (b) Signs not expressly permitted as being allowed by right or by special use permit under this article, by specific requirements in another portion of the Municipal Code, or otherwise expressly allowed by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen within its jurisdiction are prohibited.
- (c) A sign placed on land or on a building for the purpose of identification, protection or directing persons to a use conducted therein must be deemed to be an integral but accessory and subordinate part of the principal use of land or building. Therefore, the intent of this article is to establish limitations on signs in order to ensure they are appropriate to the land, building or use to which they are appurtenant and are adequate for their intended purpose while balancing the individual and community interests identified in subsection (a) of this section.
- (d) These regulations are intended to promote signs that are compatible with the use of the property to which they are appurtenant, landscape and architecture of surrounding buildings, are legible and appropriate to the activity to which they pertain, are not distracting to motorists, and are constructed and maintained in a structurally sound and attractive condition.
- (e) These regulations distinguish between portions of the Town designed for primarily vehicular access and portions of the Town designed for primarily pedestrian access.
- (f) These regulations do not regulate every form and instance of visual communication that may be displayed anywhere within the jurisdicti onal limits of the Town. Rather, they are intended to regulate those forms and instances that are most likely to meaningfully affect one or more of the purposes set forth above.
- (g) These regulations do not eliminate all of the harms that may be created by the installation and display of signs. Rather, they strike an appropriate balance that preserves ample channels of communication by means of visual display while still reducing and mitigating the extent of the harms caused bysigns.
- (h) These regulations are not intended to and do not apply to signs erected, maintained or otherwise posted, owned or leased by the State, the federal government or this Town. The inclusion of "government" in describing some signs does not intend to subject the government to regulation, but instead helps illuminate the type of sign that falls within the immunities of the government from regulation.

14.02 Definitions.

- 1. Code. Unless otherwise specifically referenced means the Code of the Town of Walden.
- 2. <u>Digital Billboard</u>. A sign that is static and changes messages by any electronic process or remote control. Digital billboards are not allowed.
- 3. <u>Electric Sign</u>. Any sign containing electric wiring. This does not include signs illuminated by an exterior floodlight source.
- 4. <u>Flag</u> Means a sign made of fabric, bunting, or similar material, attached along one side to a single pole that is either freestanding or attached to a building.
- 5. <u>Flashing Sign</u>. Any illumined sign on which the artificial light is not maintained stationary or constant in intensity and color at all times when such sign is in use. For the purpose of this Code any moving illuminated sign, except digital billboards, must be considered a flashing sign.
- 6. <u>Flat Wall (Facade-Mounted)</u> Sign. A sign affixed directly to or painted on or otherwise inscribed on an exterior wall and confined within the limits thereof of any building and which projects from that surface less than twelve (12) inches at all points.
- 7. <u>Freestanding Sign.</u> A sign erected and maintained on a freestanding frame, mast or pole not attached to any building, and not including ground mounted signs.
- 8. <u>Government Sig</u>n. A government sign is a sign that is constructed, placed or maintained by the federal, state or local government or a sign that is required to be constructed, placed or maintained by the federal, state or local government either directly or to enforce a property owner's rights.
- 9. <u>Graffiti.</u> Means any unauthorized inscription, word, figure, painting or other defacement that is written, marked, etched, scratched, sprayed, drawn, painted, or engraved on or otherwise affixed to any surface of public or private property by any graffiti implement, to the extent that the graffiti was not authorized in advance by the owner or occupant of the property, or, despite advance authorization, is otherwise deemed a public nuisance by the Town. Graffiti includes snipe signs.
- 10. <u>Graffiti implement. M</u>eans an aerosol paint container, a broad-tipped marker, gum label, paint stick or graffiti stick, etching equipment, brush or any other device capable of scarring or leaving a visible mark on any natural or manmade surface.
- 11. <u>Ground Mounted Sign</u>. A sign which extends from the ground or has support which places the bottom of the sign less than two (2) feet from the ground.
- 12. <u>Highway Sign</u>. A Freestanding sign, Integral Sign or Flat Wall Sign that is erected and maintained within the view of motorists who are driving on a highway.
- 13. <u>Holiday lights or mini lights</u>. Mean light fixtures that use bulbs that are sized C6, C7, or C9 or LEDbulbs that are 8 mm or smaller

Rope light. Means a light that has Holiday lights or mini lights inside of a PVC tube.

<u>String lights</u>. Means a lighting fixture that is composed of electrical wiring encased in plastic with sockets for bulb placement.

- 14. <u>Integral Sign</u>. A sign that is embedded, extruded or carved into the material of a building facade. A sign made of bronze, brushed stainless steel or aluminum, or similar material attached to the building facade.
- 15. <u>Lessee</u> includes a person who rents property for residential purposes.
- 16. <u>Marquee Sig</u>n. A canopy or covering structure bearing a signboard or copy projecting from and attached to a building.
- 17. <u>Minor Sig</u>n. A sign described in Section 14-205(g) and any sign not larger than six square feet that can be removed by hand if abandoned.
- 18. <u>Original Art Display</u>. A hand-painted work of visual art that is either affixed to or painted directly on the exterior wall of a structure with the permission of the property owner. An original art display does not include: mechanically produced or computer-generated prints or images, including but not limited to digitally printed vinyl; electrical or mechanical components; or changing image art display.
- 19. <u>Outdoor Advertising Sign.</u> A sign that advertises goods, products or services which are not sold, manufactured or distributed on or from the premises or facilities on which the sign is located. Outdoor advertising signs are not allowed.
- 20. <u>Portable Sign</u>. Any structure without a permanent foundation or otherwise permanently attached to a fixed location, which can be carried, towed, hauled or driven and is primarily designed to be *moved* rather than be limited to a fixed location regardless of modifications that limit its movability.
- 21. <u>Projecting Sign.</u> A sign, other than a wall sign, which projects from and is supported by a wall of a building or structure.
- 22. Roof Sign. A sign located on or above the roof of any building, not including false mansard roof, canopy, or other fascia.
- 23. <u>Sign.</u> A name, identification, description, display or illustration, which is affixed to, painted or represented directly or indirectly upon a building, or other outdoor surface which directs attention to or is designed or intended to direct attention to the sign face or to an object, product, place, activity, person, institution, organization or business. Signs located completely within an enclosed building, and not exposed to view from a street, must not be considered a sign. Each display surface of a sign or sign face must be considered to be a sign.
- 24. <u>Sign area</u>: the space enclosed within the extreme edges of the sign for each sign face, not including the supporting structure or where attached directly to a building wall or surface, the space within the outline enclosing all the characters of the words, numbers or design.
- 25. <u>Sign face</u>: The entire display surface area of a sign upon, against or through which copy is placed.
- 26. <u>Snipe sign</u>. means any small sign, generally of a temporary nature, made of any material, when such sign is tacked, nailed, posted, pasted, glued or otherwise attached to trees, poles, stakes, fences, or other objects not erected, owned and maintained by the owner of the sign.
- 27. <u>Temporary Sig</u>n. A banner, pennant, poster or advertising display constructed of paper, cloth, canvas, plastic sheet, cardboard, wallboard, plywood or other like materials and that appears to be intended or is determined by the code official to be

displayed for a limited period of time (rather than permanently attached to the ground or a structure).

28. <u>Vehicle Sign</u>. Any sign attached to or displayed on a vehicle.

14.03. Interpretation of Districts or Zones.

When this chapter makes reference to a district or zone, residentials zone are those defined by the Walden Zoning Ordinance as A-1, E-1, R-1; and commercial zones are those defined as C-1, VC-1 and LM-1.

14.03. Prohibited Signs.

- (1) Signs are prohibited unless:
 - a) Constructed pursuant to a valid permit when required under the Municipal Code; and
 - b) Authorized under this chapter or otherwise by the Municipal Code.

In residential zones or on property used for non-transient residential uses, commercial signs are prohibited.

14.05 Authorized Signs.

The following signs are authorized without a need for a permit:

- a) Although these regulations do not apply to signs erected, maintained or posted by the State, federal, county or this government, these regulations clarify that Government signs which form the expression of that government are allowed in every zoning district and include the signs described and regulated in herein when erected and maintained pursuant to law.
- b) Traffic control devices on private or public property must be erected and maintained to comply with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices adopted by the State. Because these regulations do not apply to the State, federal, county or this government, a failure to comply with this provision by those governments does not constitute evidence of negligence or form the basis for a cause of action.
- c) Each property owner must mark their property using numerals that identify the address of the property so that public safety departments can easily identify the address from the public street. Where required under this code or other law the identification may be on the curb, mailbox or on the principal building on the property. If on the building, the size and location of the identifying numerals and letters if any must be proportional to the size of the building and the distance from the street to the building. In cases where the building is not located within view of the public street, the identifier must be located on the mailbox or other suitable device such that it is visible from the street.
- d) Where a federal, state or local law requires or allows a property owner to post a sign on the owner's property to warn of a danger or to prohibit access to the property either generally or specifically, the owner must comply with the federal, state or local law to exercise that

authority by posting a sign on the property. If the federal, state or local regulation describes the form and dimensions of the sign, the property owner must comply with those requirements, otherwise, when not defined, the sign shall be no larger than two square feet and located in a place on the property to provide access to the notice that is required to be made. Signs posted under this Section are not snipe signs.

- e) Official notices or advertisements posted or displayed by or under the direction of any public or court officer in the performance of official or directed duties; provided, that all such signs must be removed by the property owner no more than ten (10) days after their purpose has been accomplished or as otherwise required by law. Signs posted under this Section are not snipe signs.
- f) The signs described in subsections (c), (d) and (e) are an important component of measures necessary to protect the public safety and serve the compelling governmental interest of protecting traffic safety, complying with legal requirements, serving the requirements of emergency response and protecting property rights or the rights of persons on property.
- g) Temporary Signs, Generally.
 - (1) Temporary signs allowed at any time:
 - (a) A property owner may place one sign with a sign face no larger than three (3) square feet on the property at any time. This Section does not include snipe signs.
 - (b) A property owner may place a sign no larger than 8.5 inches by 11 inches in one window on the property at any time.
 - (2) Temporary signs may be located on the owner's property for a period of ninety (90) days prior to an election involving candidates for a federal, state or local office or which involves an issue on the ballot of an election and remain for up to sixty (60) days subsequent to such election. This Section does not authorize snipe signs.
 - (3) One temporary sign that is not a snipe sign may be located on a property when:
 - (a) the owner consents and that property is being offered for sale through a licensed real estate agent;
 - (b) if not offered for sale through a real estate agent, when the sign is owned by the property owner and that property is offered for sale by the owner through advertising in a local newspaper of general circulation; and
 - (c) for a period of 21 days following the date on which a contract of sale has been executed by a person purchasing the property.
 - (4) One temporary sign may be located on the owner's property on the day prior to and on a day when the property owner is opening the property to the public; provided, however, the owner may not use this type of sign in a Residential District on more than five days in a year and may not use this type of sign in any Commercial District for more than 14 days in a year. For purposes of this Section, a year is counted from the first day on which the sign is erected counting backwards and from the last day on which the sign exists counting forward. This Section does not authorize snipe signs.

- (5) During the period from the Thanksgiving holiday to January 10, a property owner may place temporary signs on the property and may use lights to decorate the property even if the lights might be arranged to form a sign. This Section does not authorize snipe signs.
- (6) A property owner may place and maintain one temporary sign on the property the last week of June and the first week of July. This Section does not authorize snipe signs.
- (7) A person exercising the right to place temporary signs on a property as described in this Section 14- 206 must limit the number of signs on the property per 0.25 acre at any one time to 2 plus a sign allowed in 14-205(g)(1)(b), or if the property is smaller than 0.25 acres then no more than 2 signs plus a sign allowed in 14-205(g)(1)(b) per principal building on the property.
- (8) The sign face of any temporary sign, unless otherwise limited in this Section 14-205 must not be larger than three (3) square feet.
 - The Lessee of a property is considered the property owner as to the property the Lessee holds a right to use exclusive of others (or the sole right to occupy). The terms of a lease or other agreement under which the property is occupied controls in determining whether property is occupied exclusively by a Lessee. If there are multiple Lessees of a property then each Lessee must have the same rights and duties as the property owner as to the property the Lessee leases and has the sole right to occupy and the size of the property must be deemed to be the property that the Lessee has the sole right to occupy under the lease.
- h) Signs not in an enclosed building and not exposed to view from a street or public right of way, public place or other property such as those not visible to a person from a public right of way, public place or other property.
- i) Flags as follows:
 - (1) Residential Districts. In a single-family zoning district, two flags and one flagpole per premises. Each flag must be a maximum of fifteen (15) square feet in area. Flag poles must meet the minimum yard setback requirements for a principal building.
 - (2) Commercial Districts. In a commercial district, one flag per twenty-five (25) feet of frontage on a right-of-way up to a maximum of three (3) flags and three (3) flag poles per premises. Each flag must be a maximum of twenty-four (24) square feet in area. Flag poles must be a maximum of forty (40) feet in height but no higher than the highest point of the nearest principal building's roof on the premises. Flag poles must meet the minimum yard setback requirements for a principal building or a minimum of ten feet whichever is more restrictive.
 - (a) Small flags at vehicle sales and service establishments. One small flag of no more than one square foot in area may be attached to vehicles on

- display for sale or rent at vehicle sales and service establishments. Such flag must be no higher than two feet above the height of the vehicle as if it were displayed at grade level.
- (b) Vehicle signs must be covered if the vehicle is parked on the same property for longer than twelve (12) hours so that the sign is not visible from a public way.
- j) Signs within ballparks and athletic fields. Signs within ballparks and athletic fields as follows:
 - (1) Scoreboards facing inward to the audience; and
 - (2) Such other signs as may be affixed to the fence or scoreboard, facing inward to the field of play that are no larger than [32] square feet in area.
- k) Memorial plaques, cornerstones, historical tablets and the like.
- l) Nameplates.
- m) Barber poles.

14.06. Permit Required

- (a) *In general.* A sign permit is required prior to the display and erection of any sign except as provided in Section 14-205.
- (b) Application for permit.
 - (1) An application for a sign permit must be filed with the Town Recorder on forms furnished by the Town. The applicant must provide sufficient information *to* determine if the proposed sign is allowed under this code and other applicable laws, regulations, and ordinances. An application for a temporary sign must state the dates intended for the erection and removal of the sign. An application for any sign must state the date when the owner intends to erect it and provide a bond sufficient to allow the Town to remove it if it is not properly maintained or if it is abandoned.
 - (2) The Town Recorder or designee must promptly process the sign permit application and approve the application, reject the application, or notify the applicant of deficiencies in the application within 15 days after receipt. Any application that complies with all provisions of this code, the zoning ordinance, the building code, and other applicable laws, regulations, and ordinances must be approved.
 - (3) If the application is rejected, the Town Recorder must provide a list of the reasons for the rejection in writing. An application must be rejected for non-compliance with the terms of this code, the zoning ordinance, building code, or other applicable law, regulation, or ordinance.
- (c) Permit fee. A nonrefundable fee as set forth in the uncodified fee schedule adopted

- by the Town Council must accompany all sign permit applications.
- (d) Bond. The applicant for any sign except a minor sign must submit a bond in an amount and from an issuer approved by the Town Recorder to protect the Town from the cost of removing the sign should it no longer be allowed under the laws of the Town, state or federal government. If the permit is issued a condition of the permit must be that the bond is maintained and increased or decreased based upon the then current estimates of the costs of removal of the sign. If the sign is removed without cost to the Town the Town must release the bond but may execute upon it should the Town be held responsible for or incur any cost in removing the sign.
- (e) Duration and revocation of permit. If a sign is not installed within six months following the issuance of a sign permit the permit must be void. The Town may revoke a sign permit under any of the following circumstances:
 - (1) The Town determines that information in the application was materially false or misleading;
 - (2) The sign as installed does not conform to the sign permit application;
 - (3) The sign violates this code, the zoning ordinance, building code, or other applicable law, regulation, or ordinance; or
 - (4) The Code Official/Zoning Administrator determines that the sign is not being properly maintained or has been abandoned.

14.07 Appeals and variances

- a. Appeals. If the Town Recorder denies a permit the applicant may appeal to the Board of Mayor and Aldermen. The decision of the Town Recorder will be accorded a presumption of correctness.
- b. Variances. Variances shall be considered and granted in the manner provided in Article 9 of this Zoning Ordinance.

14.08 Specific Sign Regulations for Residential Districts

The following sign regulations apply to Residential Districts.

- (1) Size:
- A. When a sign is authorized on a property, the sign must not exceed three (3) square feet in area. Where attached dwellings exist on a property the total square footage of signs must not exceed [two square feet per dwelling unit and must not exceed a total offifteen (15) square feet in area per structure.
- B. For Residential Developments (including subdivision identification) the maximum size and number of signs that the owner or owners of the residential development may erect and maintain at the entrances to the development must be controlled according to the following:
 - (1) Residential developments four [4) acres or less in area may have a sign or signs

with a total area of no more than thirty-two (32) square feet.

- (2) Residential developments over four (4) acres but less than forty (40) acres in area may have a sign or signs which have a total area of no more than forty-eight (48) square feet.
- (3) Residential developments of forty (40) acres or more in area may have a sign or signs

(2) Location:

Permitted signs may be anywhere on the premises, except to the extent that they may impair the sight triangle at any intersection.

(3) Height:

The following maximum heights must apply to signs:

- a. If ground-mounted, the top must not be over four (4) feet above the ground; and
- If building mounted, must be flush mounted and must not project above the roof line.

(4) Illumination:

Illumination may not be used in residential districts.

(5) The following signs are not allowed:

Highway Signs, Portable Signs, Marquee Signs, Digital Billboard, Outdoor Advertising Signs, and Projecting Signs. Temporary signs that might fall within the definition of "highway sign" are not prohibited by this Section provided they comply with Section 14-205.

(6) Commercial uses lawfully operating in a Residential District must comply with Sections 14-210(6) and (7).

14.09 Specific Sign Regulations for Commercial Districts

The following sign regulations apply to Commercial Districts except for VC-1 Village Center.

(1) Number and Size:

For each lot or parcel a sign at the listed size may be authorized as follows:

- A. Signs must not exceed twenty-five (25) square feet.
- B. Along Taft Highway signs must not exceed the following area requirements based on the speed limit and number of traffic lanes on the adjacent public street:

| Maximum Speed Limit | No. of traffic Janes | Max. Sq. Footage of sign |
|---------------------|----------------------|--------------------------|
| 30 mph or less | 3 or Jess | 32 sq. ft. |
| 35 mph or more | 3 or less | 50 sq. ft. |

C. Two (2) or more lots or parcels having a combined linear frontage of eighty five (85) feet may combine their sign areas allowed by Section 14-210 (1) B. for the purpose of providing one common free-standing or ground-mounted sign. The sign must not exceed one hundred fifty (150) square feet.

D. Corner Lots:

Where a lot fronts on more than one street, only the square footage computed for each street frontage must face that street frontage.

F. If not otherwise regulated as to maximum sign area in this code, signs are governed by the following:

| Maximum Sign Area | Street Frontage |
|-------------------|-----------------|
| 20 sq. ft. | 85 ft. or less |
| 25 sq. ft. | 86-90 ft. |
| 30 sq. ft. | 91-99 ft. |
| 35 sq. ft. | 100 ft. or more |

G. Highway Signs:

Highway signs must be permitted only on lots bordering Taft Highway within a Commercial District. In determining these limitations, the following must apply:

- (1) Minimum spacing between signs on the same side of the highway must be 500 feet.
- (2) For the purpose of applying the spacing requirements of Section (1) above, the following must apply:
 - (a) Distances must be measured parallel to the centerline of the highway;
 - (b) Measurements for the spacing between signs must be based on when the construction of the sign:
 - i. Received final approval by the Code Official measuring from the first sign to have received that approval; or
 - ii. If the Code Official has not given final approval to a sign that will be limited by the spacing requirement once it is constructed, then
 - 1) Measured from the first sign given a building permit that is not cancelled or void at the time of measurement; or
 - 2) When no permit has been issued that is still valid, measured

from the first fully complete application for a building permit received by the Code Official that has not been cancelled or which is void; and

(c) A back-to-back, multiple signs on one freestanding pole, double-faced or V type sign must be considered as one sign.

(2) Location:

- A. Flat Wall Signs may be located on any wall of the building.
- B. Freestanding Signs must have a minimum clearance of eight (8) feet six (6) inches above a sidewalk.
- C. One Freestanding or Ground-Mounted sign per lot or parcel except as provided in Section 14-209(1) B. and 14-210(1) F. may be located anywhere on the premises except as follows:
 - (1) A ground-mounted sign must not be located in a required side yard, rear yard or
 - (2) A freestanding sign must not be located in a required side or rear yard. A freestanding sign may project up to the street right-of-way provided there is a minimum ground clearance of eight (8) feet six (6) inches and provided the location complies with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices.
- D. Marquee Signs or signs located on or attached to marquees must have a minimum clearance of not less than eight (8) feet six (6) inches (8' 6"). The maximum vertical dimension of signs must be determined as follows:

| Height above Grade | Vertical Dimension |
|--------------------|--------------------|
| | |
| 8' 6" up to 10' | 2' 6" high |
| 10' up to 12' | 3' high |
| 12' up to 14' | 3' 6" high |
| 14' up 16' | 4' high |
| 16' and over | 4' 6" high |
| | |

- E. Wall signs must not extend above the top of a parapet wall or a roofline at the wall, whichever is higher.
- F. Permitted highway signs may be allowed anywhere on the premises except in a required side yard, rear yard or within twenty {20} feet of a street right-of way.

(3) Height:

- A. Ground-mounted signs must not exceed four (4) feet in height from ground level.
- B. Freestanding signs are subject to the following restrictions:
 - The maximum height of any freestanding sign above the average grade elevation surrounding the sign shall not exceed the following:
 - a) Eight feet where the sign face does not exceed 40 square feet;
 - b) Ten feet where the sign face does not exceed 60 square feet; or
 - c) Twelve feet where the sign face exceeds 60 square feet.
 - ii. The bottom edge of the sign shall not exceed four feet in height from the lowest grade elevation at the base of the sign.
 - iii. The maximum width of any freestanding sign shall not exceed the following:
 - a) Fifteen feet where the sign face does not exceed 40 square feet;
 - b) Twenty feet where the sign face does not exceed 60 square feet; or
 - c) Twenty-five feet where the sign face exceeds 60 square feet.
- C. Highway signs must not exceed thirty-five {35} feet in height from ground level.

(4) Content:

- A. Any of the signs pursuant to this section may be changeable copy signs.
- B. The primary identification sign as allowed under 14-205(c) for each firm must contain its street number. The street number must be clearly visible from the street right-of-way.

(5) Illumination:

Illumination if used must not be blinking, fluctuating or moving. Light rays must shine only upon the sign and upon the property within the premises.

- (6) Temporary signs if allowed under Section 14-205(g) and in addition where an establishment is licensed to serve food, the restaurant owner may display a menu that is used in the restaurant and that is no larger than three (3) sq. ft:
 - (a) in the window of the restaurant; or
 - (b) attached to a wall on a portion of a building occupied by the restaurant:
 - i. if it is enclosed in a casing that is architecturally compatible with the building design and color; and
 - ii. extends no more than three inches in depth away from the wall to which it is attached.

- (7) Window Signs: Window signs are allowed in all Commercial Districts, but must not exceed 10% of the gross glass area including menus and:
 - (a) for public safety purposes where directed by the police must be located on areas of the window to protect the occupants or a police responder;
 - (b) as required by a licensing agency if the business is required to have a license to operate and the licensing agency restricts or requires window signs.

14.10 VC-1 Village Center Zone:

Signs used for this zone are allowed as follows:

- (1) Only one (1) sign of one hundred fifty {150) square feet must be permitted for centers less than five (5) acres and greater than one (1) acre.
- (2) A maximum of four (4) signs of sixty (60) square feet must be permitted for complexes for five (5) to fifty (SO) acres.
- (3) Individual businesses are allowed a face building mounted sign pursuant to Section 14- 210(1) A. and B.

14.11 Supplemental Criteria in All Districts.

(1) Temporary Signs:

Temporary signs are subject to the following standards:

- A. Must not on one property exceed a total of sixteen (16) square feet in area;
- B. Must not be located within any public right-of-way whether dedicated or owned in fee simple or as an easement;
- C. Must only be located on property that is owned by the person whose sign it is and must not be placed on any utility pole, street light, similar object, or on public property;
- D. Must not be illuminated except as allowed in herein based on the District in which the sign is located; and
- E. Must be removed within ten (10) days after the election, sale, rental, lease or conclusion of event which is the basis for the sign under 14-205(g) or if a different standard is required in Section 14-205(g) must be removed within the time period required by that Section.
- (2) Bench Signs:

On street benches provided:

- A. The benches must not be higher than four (4) feet above ground;
- B. The sign must be limited to [fourteen (14)] square feet in area;

- C. The benches are not located closer than five (5) feet to any street right-of-way line;
- D. Benches are located in a manner not to obstruct vision;
- E. Must be included as part of the total permitted sign area of the premise on which it is located unless located in the public right of way.

(3) Integral Signs:

There are no restrictions on sign orientation. Integral sign must not exceed seventy-two (72) square feet per facade. Integral signs may be illuminated externally but must not be illuminated internally.

(4) Private Traffic Direction:

Illumination of signs erected as required by the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices must be in accordance with Section 14-212. Horizontal directional signs flush with paved areas are exempt from these standards.

(5) Original Art Display

Original art displays are allowed provided that they meet the following requirements:

- A. Must not be placed on a dwelling;
- B. Must not extend more than six (6) inches from the plane of the wall upon which it is painted or to which it is affixed;
- C. Must be no more than sixty-four (64) square feet in size, per lot or parcel;
- D. The property owner must not be compensated for the display of the original art or the right to place the original art on site; and
- E. Must not be illuminated.

14.12 Illumination

No sign can be erected or maintained without a permit or which, by use of lights or illumination, creates a distracting or hazardous condition to a motorist, pedestrian or the general public. In addition:

- 14.12.1 No exposed reflective type bulb, par spot or incandescent lamp, which exceeds [twenty- five (25) Watts,] must be exposed to direct view from a public street or highway, but may be used for indirect light illumination of the display surface of a sign. When neon tubing is employed on the exterior or interior of a sign, the capacity of such tubing must not exceed [three hundred (300) milliamperes] rating for white tubing or [one hundred (100) milliamperes] rating for any colored tubing.
- 14.12.2 When fluorescent tubes are used for the interior illumination of a sign, such illumination must not exceed:

14.12.2.1 Within Residential districts: Illumination may not be used in residential districts.

14.12.2.2 Within land use districts other than Residential:

Illumination equivalent to eight hundred (800) milliampere rating tubing behind a Plexiglas face spaced at least [nine (9) inches, center to center.

- 14.12.3 An applicant for a permit to illuminate a sign must submit a plan to the Town Recorder showing the illumination plan including the effect of the illumination on any other property that might be affected by the light and how the illumination conforms aesthetically to the site and the neighborhood.
 - 14.12.3.1 The application must be reviewed to determine the effect on other properties and the aesthetics of the site and the neighborhood.
 - 14.12.3.2 The application must not be approved if the effect on other properties would create adverse results and must not be approved if the plan does not conform to the aesthetics of the neighborhood or the site.
- 14.12.4 In a Residential District the property owner may use string lights or rope lights to decorate the residence as well as natural objects without a permit provided:
 - 14.12.4.1 String and rope lights must be designed to meet GCFI standards and installed in accordance with the National Electric Code.
 - 14.12.4.2 String light bulbs and rope lights must be of standard wattage and designed for outdoor use.
 - 14.12.4.3 String and rope light bulbs may only be white or clear.
 - 14.12.4.4 String and rope lights must be securely hung from a sturdy fixture.
- 14.12.5 Outdoor lighting of eating or drinking establishments, such as restaurants, cafes, coffee houses, and bars must comply with this section and string lights and rope lights may only

be used in outdoor patio areas. All string and rope lights must be turned off when the establishment is closed.

- 14.12.6 Automated teller machines. Where Automated Teller Machine (ATM) signs are allowed signs may be placed on the ATM subject to the following requirements:
 - (a) The sign must be an integral part of the ATM;
 - (b) May not exceed two and one-half square feet in total size, including any border or background color.

14.13 Prohibited Signs.

The following signs or lights are prohibited which:

- Are of a size, location, movement, coloring, or manner of illumination which may be confused with or construed as a traffic control device or which hide from view any traffic or street sign or signal;
- (2) Contain or consist of banners, posters, pennants, ribbons, streamers, strings of light bulbs, spinners, or other similarly moving devices or signs which may move or swing as a result of wind pressure. These devices when not part of any sign are similarly prohibited, unless they are permitted specifically by other legislation;
- (3) Have blinking, flashing or fluttering lights or other illuminating devices which exhibit movement;
- (4) Are roof signs;
- (5) Are visible from a limited access highway except as allowed as Highway signs;
- (6) Would be an Original Art Display but does not have the permission of the owner of the property on which it is located or is graffiti; or
- (7) Are portable signs that do not comply with the location, size or use restrictions of this Code:
- (8) Are Graffiti or Clutter signs;
- (9) Are abandoned signs.

14.13 Procedures.

Applications for a sign permit must be processed through the Town Recorder or building inspector and shall be accompanied by the following:

- (1) An application fee in an amount set by resolution of the Board of Mayor and Alderman.
- (2) A scale drawing or a grid of the sign showing all faces and supporting structures and, for signs to be erected upon a building, a drawing of the building face, which drawing includes all existing and proposed signs;
- (3) A site plan of the property showing width of business facade(s) and the locations and sizes of all existing and proposed signs;
- (4) Samples of proposed colors and materials;
- (5) A description of the type and amount of illumination.

14.14 Nonconformity and Modification.

- (1) Except as provided in Section 14-216(3) below, signs lawfully in existence on the date the provisions of this Code were first advertised, which do not conform to the provisions of this Code, but which were in compliance with the applicable regulations at the time they were constructed, erected, affixed or maintained must be regarded as nonconforming.
- (2) For the purpose of amortization, nonconforming signs may be continued from the effective date of this Code for a period not to exceed the shorter of the period the signs were allowed under any prior Code or [ten (10) years whichever is less.
- (3) Signs which were unlawful under the prior Ordinance and which do not conform to this Code must be removed immediately.
- (4) Temporary signs, including snipe signs and graffiti that do not comply with this Code must be removed immediately.

14.15 Compliance.

Any sign which is altered, relocated, replaced or must be brought immediately into compliance with all provisions of this Code.

(Ord. Number 2020-334; Date 11/10/2020)